

การพัฒนาการสกัดระดับจุลภาคแบบวัฏภาคของแข็งแพร่กระจายสำหรับวิเคราะห์สาร กำจัดแมลงกลุ่มนี้ โอนิ โคตินอยค์ตกก้าง



ปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเคมี

ตุลาคม 2561 สงวนลิขสิทธิ์เป็นของมหาวิทยาลัยมหาสารกาม Development of Dispersive Micro-Solid Phase Extraction for Determination of Neonicotinoid Insecticide Residues



for Master of Science (Chemistry)

October 2018

Copyright of Mahasarakham University



The examining committee has unanimously approved this Thesis, submitted by Miss Khwankaew Moyakao, as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science Chemistry at Mahasarakham University

Examining Committee				
Chairman				
(Assoc. Prof. Rodjana Burakham				
Ph.D.)				
Advisor				
(Asst. Prof. Jitlada Vichapong,				
Ph.D.)				
Co-advisor				
(Asst. Prof. Yanawath				
Santaladchaiyakit, Ph.D.)				
Committee				
(Asst. Prof. Piyanete Chantiratikul,				
Ph.D.)				
Committee				
(Asst. Prof. Kraingkrai Ponhong,				
Ph.D.)				

Mahasarakham University has granted approval to accept this Thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science Chemistry

(Prof. Pairot Pramual , Ph.D.) Dean of The Faculty of Science (Asst. Prof. Krit Chaimoon , Ph.D.) Dean of Graduate School

Day___Month_Year____

TITLE	Development of Dispersive Micro-Solid Phase Extraction for				
	Determination of Neonicotinoid Insecticide Residues				
AUTHOR	Khwankaew Moyakao				
ADVISORS	Assistant Professor Jitlada Vichapong, Ph.D.				
	Assistant Professor Yanawath Santaladchaiyakit, Ph.D.				
DEGREE	Master of Science	MAJOR	Chemistry		
UNIVERSITY	Mahasarakham	YEAR	2018		
	University				

ABSTRACT

This study presents a simple dispersive micro-solid phase extraction (d-µ-SPE) using montmorillonite (MMT) clay as an efficient adsorbent for the enrichment of neonicotinoid insecticide residues in natural surface water and fruit juice samples. High-performance liquid chromatography with UV/Visible detection was used for quantification and determination of neonicotinoid insecticide residues, including thiamethoxam, clothianidin, imidacloprid, acetamiprid, and thiacloprid. In d-µ-SPE process, the solid sorbent was dispersed into the aqueous sample solution and vortex agitation was performed to accelerate the extraction process. Finally, the solution was filtered from the solid sorbent with a membrane filter. The parameters affecting the extraction efficiency were optimized such as amount of sorbent, sample volume, salt addition, type and volume of extraction solvent, vortex time, and centrifugation time. Under optimum conditions, linear dynamic ranges were achieved between 0.5 and 1000 ng mL⁻¹ with a correlation of determination (R^2) greater than 0.99. Limit of detection (LOD) ranged from 0.005 to 0.065 ng mL⁻¹, while limit of quantification (LOQ) ranged from 0.008 to 0.263 ng mL⁻¹. The enrichment factor (EF) ranged from 8 to 176. The applicability of this proposed method was successfully demonstrated for the analysis of trace target analytes in natural surface water and fruit juice samples.

Keyword : Montmorillonite, Dispersive micro-solid phase extraction, Surface water and fruit juice samples, Neonicotinoids

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest and sincere gretitude to my advisor, Asst. Prof. Dr. Jitlada Vichapong for her kindness in providing an opportunity to be her advisee. I am also appreciated for her valuable supervision, suggestions, encouragement, supporting, guidance and criticism throughout the course of my study. I would like to express my greatest appreciation and sincere gratitude to my co-adviser, Asst. Prof. Dr. Yanawath Santaladchaiyakit, Department of Chemistry Faculty of Engineering, Rajamangala University of Technology Isan, Khon Kean Campus for his valuable advices, kindness, useful comment and suggestion. Sincere thank and appreciation are also due to my graduate committe, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Rodjana Burakham, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Khon Kaen University, Asst. Prof. Dr. Piyanete Chantiratikul and Asst. Prof. Dr. Kraingkrai Ponhong, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Mahasarakham University for their helpful suggestion.

I would like to express my gratitude to Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Mahasarakham University for providing chemicals, instruments and all supporting facilities. I would like to express my sincere thanks to Department of Chemistry and Center of Excellence for Innovation in Chemisry (PERCH-CIC) for the financial support during my study.

My appreciation is extended to all the staff members of the Department of Chemistry. I would like to thank my friends for their encouragement, making life enjoyable and friendship. Thanks are also expressed to many persons who have not been mentioned here for their help, directly and indirectly, during all stages of the work. More than anything else, I would like to special acknowledge my family especially my parents for their tender love, definite care, support, patience and many sacrifices throughout the extended period of my study. ยณ สโต

4

Khwankaew Moyakao

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
ABSTRACTD
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS E
TABLE OF CONTENTSF
LIST OF TABLES I
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background and rational12
1.2 Purposes of the research14
1.3 Scope of research14
1.4 Benefit of research
1.5 Definition of terms15
CHAPTER 2
LITERATURE REVIEW16
2.1 Neonicotinoid insecticides16
2.2 D-μ-SPE
2.3 Sample preparation and chromatographic determination of neonicotinoids21
CHAPTER 3
METHODOLOGY
3.1 Reagents and standards
3.2 Instrumentation
3.3 Surface water and fruit juice samples
3.4 Experimental
3.4.1 Preparation of standard neonicotinoid insecticides
3.4.2 Linearity, detection limits and repeatability

3.5 Sample preconcentration4	0
3.5.1 D-μ-SPE procedure4	0
3.5.1.1 Effect of amount of MMT sorbent4	1
3.5.1.2 Effect of sample volume4	1
3.5.1.3 Effect of type and amount of the salt addition	1
3.5.1.4 Effect of type and volume of the desorption solvent	1
3.5.1.5 Effect of vortex time4	1
3.5.1.6 Effect of centrifugation time4	1
3.5.1.7 Reusability of adsorbent4	1
3.5.2 Preparation of samples	12
3.6 Analysis of neonicotinoids in natural surface water and fruit juice samples4	2
3.7 Data analysis4	2
CHAPTER 4	4
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION4	4
4.1 Determination of neonicotinoid insecticide residues in surface water and fruit	
juice samples using dispersive micro-solid phase extraction (d-µ-SPE)4	4
4.1.1 Optimization of the d-μ-SPE procedure4	4
4.1.1.1 Effect of amount of MMT sorbent	4
4.1.1.2 Effect of sample volume4	5
4.1.1.3. Salt addition	6
4.1.1.4. Effect of type and volume of the desorption solvent	8
4.1.1.5. Effect of vortex time5	50
4.1.1.6 Effect of centrifugation time5	51
4.1.1.7 Reusability of adsorbent	;3
4.1.2 Analytical performance of the developed d-µ-SPE procedure5	63
4.1.3 Application to real samples5	6
4.2 Comparison of the proposed d- μ -SPE method with other sample preparation	
methods	8
CHAPTER 5	'0
CONCLUSION7	0'

REFERENCES	71
BIOGRAPHY	



LIST OF TABLES

Pa	ige
	5~

Table 1. Properties of the studied neonic otinoid insecticides from other chemical	
classes [35]	17
Table 2. Literatures on d-µ-SPE for determination of pesticides	20
Table 3. Literatures on chromatographic determination of neonicotinoid insecticides	3
using various preconcentration techniques	30
Table 4. Chemical and reagents used in this work	38
Table 5. The chromatographic conditions used for separation of neonicotinoids	39
Table 6. The optimum conditions of d-µ-SPE for analysis of neonicotinoid	
insecticides	53
Table 7. Analytical performance of the proposed method	55
Table 8. Analysis of neonicotinoid insecticides in real samples.	58
Table 9. The recoveries of neonicotinoid insecticides in spiked using d-µ-SPE	59
Table 10. Comparison of the proposed $d-\mu$ -SPE with other sample preparation	
methods for the determination of neonicotinoids	69



LIST OF FIGURES

Р	age	<u>د</u>
-	~	-

Pa	ag
Figure 1. Schematic diagram of the D-µ-SPE4	0
Figure 2. Effect of sorbent amount. Conditions: 100% (v/v) of acetonitrile (300 μ L) a the desorption solvent; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (10 mL, 500 ng mL-1 of each neonicotinoids)	s 5
Figure 3. Effect of the sample volume. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 100% (v/v) of acetonitrile (300 µL) as the desorption solvent; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids)4	6
Figure 4. Chromatograms of salt addition obtained by (a) without salt, (b) NaNO ₂ , (c) Na ₂ CO ₃ , (d) NaCl, (e) Na ₂ SO ₄ , and (f) CH ₃ COONa: concentration of all standards was 500 ng mL ⁻¹	' 7
Figure 5. Effect of the salt addition. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 100% (v/v) of acetonitrile (300 μ L) as the desorption solvent; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (13 mL, 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids)	8
Figure 6. Effect of Na_2SO_4 concentration. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 100% (v/v) of acetonitrile (300 µL) as the desorption solvent; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (13 mL, 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids)). 8
Figure 7. Effect of the different desorption solvent. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 0.03 g of Na ₂ SO ₄ ; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (13 mL, 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids)	9
Figure 8. Effect of the volume of 70% (v/v) ACN. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 0.03 g of Na ₂ SO ₄ ; 70% (v/v) of acetonitrile as the desorption solvent; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (13 mL, 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids)	0
Figure 9. Effect of vortex time (a) loading time and (b) eluting time. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 0.03 g of Na ₂ SO ₄ ; 70% (v/v) of acetonitrile (150 μ L) as the desorption solvent and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (13 mL, 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids)	1
Figure 10. Effect of centrifugation time (a) loading time and (b) eluting time. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 0.03 g of Na ₂ SO ₄ ; 70% (v/v) of acetonitrile (150 μ L) as the desorption solvent; vortextime 60 s (loading time) and 120 s (eluting time) (13 mL, 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids)) 2

	Figure 11. Chromatograms of standard neonicotinoids obtained (a) without preconcentration, and (b) with preconcentration using the proposed method (concentration of all standards was 500 ng mL ⁻¹)
	Figure 12. Chromatograms of (a) longan sample (local market), (b) longan sample spiked with 250 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) longan sample spiked with 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid
	Figure 13. Chromatograms of (a) grape sample (local market), (b) grape sample spiked with 250 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) grape sample spiked with 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid
	Figure 14. Chromatograms of (a) watermelon sample (local market), (b) watermelon sample spiked with 250 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) watermelon sample spiked with 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid
	Figure 15. Chromatograms of (a) logan sample (super market), (b) logan sample spiked with 250 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) logan sample spiked with 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid
	Figure 16. Chromatograms of (a) grape sample (super market), (b) grape sample spiked with 250 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) grape sample spiked with 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid
	Figure 17. Chromatograms of (a) watermelon sample (super market), (b) watermelon sample spiked with 250 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) watermelon sample spiked with 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid
	Figure 18. Chromatograms of (a) surface water sample I, (b) surface water sample I spiked with 250 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) surface water sample I spiked with 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid
	Figure 19. Chromatograms of (a) surface water sample II, (b) surface water sample II spiked with 250 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) surface water sample II spiked with 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid
	Figure 20. Chromatograms of (a) surface water sample III, (b) surface water sample III spiked with 250 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) surface water sample III spiked with 500 ng mL ⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background and rational

Recently, the increasing public concerning about the health risk from pesticide residues in diet has deeply emphasized the importance on food quality and safety [1]. Neonicotinoids are a relatively new generation of pesticides introduced to the market since the launch of pyrethroids [1]. This group of insecticides includes nitrosubstituted (dinotefuran, nitenpyram, thiamethoxam, imidacloprid and clothianidin) and cyano-substituted (acetamiprid and thiacloprid) compounds [2]. They are most commonly used on rice, maize, sunflowers, rapeseed, potatoes, sugar beets, vegetables, and fruits crops [3]. Neonicotinoid insecticides act as agonists at the insect nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs), which plays an important role in synaptic transmission in the central nervous system [1]. The widespread use of neonicotinoid insecticides at various stages agricultural cultivation and during postharvest storage could give rise to serious risks for the health and safety of the consumers [4]. Consequently, restrictions in their agriculture uses and maximum residue limits (MRLs) in some food commodities have been established [5]. The MRLs for neonicotinoids in fruit, vegetable and cereals were between 0.1 and 1.0 mg kg⁻¹ [6]. Thus, a sensitive and selective method for monitoring neonicotinoid residues at low concentration levels is required to secure food quality and to protect hazard for consumer.

High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) coupled with various detection systems, including ultraviolet [7], diode array [8], fluorescence [9], and mass spectrometry [10,11], is preferred choice for neonicotinoid pesticides analysis [12], in order to obtain the concentration data at trace levels of contamination. Modern instrumental methods such as liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (LC-MS) have shown to be an excellent method for the quantitative and qualitative analysis of neonicotinoid insecticides in real samples [13], but it suffers from being a very expensive and complex instrument. However, gas chromatography

(GC) has also been reported for neonicotinoid determination [14] but requires some special condition to reduce thermal decomposition. Capillary electrophoresis (CE) has also become an attractive approach for the analysis of pesticide residues, but suffers from low sensitivity because of short optical path length of the capillary [15]. Due to their low concentrations and complex matrices in real samples, sample preparation is further step still required before instrumental analysis. Sample clean-up techniques are the most commonly employed, which comprise liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) [16], solid-phase extraction (SPE) [17], solid-phase microextraction (SPME) [18] and liquid-liquid microextraction (LLME) [19]. However, LLE suffers from the requirement of large amount of both samples and toxic organic solvents. SPE typically requires reduced amounts of organic solvents relative to LLE, but SPE sometimes suffers from analytes breakthrough when large sample volumes are analysed [6]. Two types of microextraction techniques have also been further developed, namely, solid phase microextraction (SPME) [20] and liquid phase microextraction (LPME) [21]. LPME is based on the use of very low volumes (at the level of microliter) of solvent and has its origin in the use of a drop of extraction solvent [22]. SPME integrates sampling, extraction, concentration and sample introduction into a single solvent-free step. Although, SPME and LPME eliminate and/or reduce the volume of consumed organic solvents but they are usually timeconsuming processes [23]. In 2003, Anastassiades et al. reported a new approach to sample preparation named dispersive solid phase extraction (DSPE) [24]. In this technique, the solid sorbent is added directly to a sample solution without conditioning, so the clean-up procedure require only on shaking or vortex and centrifugation. DSPE cannot provide effective enough cleanup, generally for some complex matrices. More recently, a novel method called dispersive micro-solid phase extraction (d-µ-SPE) has been widely developed [24]. This technique is based on SPE methodology, but used a small amount of a solid sorbent (ug or mg range) is dispersed in the sample solution containing the target analytes to extract the target analytes. Compared to conventional DSPE, d-µ-SPE has the following advantages: simpler operation, less solvent consumption and shorter time requirement. In d-µ-SPE, nature and physicochemical properties of the solid sorbent are very important in order to achieve an accurate, sensitive and selective determination of target analytes. Carbon nanotubes, graphene, and inorganic nanoparticles are some adsorbent materials applied for d- μ -SPE. To date, clay was investigated as sorbents which are potentially useful materials for the adsorption of environmental pollutants due to their unique polarity, pore-size distribution, and high surface areas [25]. There are three classes of clay including illite, kaonite and montmorillonite. Montmorillonite (MMT) is a class of natural clay that possesses a large surface area and high cation-exchange capacity. It has been demonstrated to serve as an effective sorbent [26]. In recent years, MMT have very successful to use as adsorbent for extraction techniques which are potentially useful materials for the adsorption of environmental pollutants [27, 28, 29]. MMT has been reported to be used as adsorbent for SPME but it is very difficult to manufacture each stand with exactly the same coating thickness [30].

The aim of this work to develop a simple $d-\mu$ -SPE for preconcentration of neonicotinoid insecticides in surface water and fruit juice samples combined with HPLC for determination of target analytes. In this research, MMT clay will be used as an efficient adsorbent in the $d-\mu$ -SPE of trace neonicotinoids. Application of such development is aimed for the determination of neonicotinoid residues in food and environmental samples.

1.2 Purposes of the research

- 1. To develop a simple $d-\mu$ -SPE method using MMT clay as efficient adsorbent for preconcentration of neonicotinoid insecticides.
- 2. To apply the proposed d-µ-SPE method for the determination of neonicotinoid insecticide residues in real samples.

1.3 Scope of research

- 1. Construction of calibration curves, detection limit, minimum detectable quantity and reproducibility.
- 2. The preconcentration method will be studied for determination of trace neonicotinoids in surface water and fruit juice samples.
- 3. The developed method will be applied to analysis of neonicotinoids residues in surface water and fruit juice samples.

1.4 Benefit of research

1. The optimized conditions for preconcentration method of neonicotinoids in real samples by d-μ-SPE.

2. The trace neonicotinoid contents in surface water and fruit juice samples will be obtained.

1.5 Definition of terms

- 1. Neonicotinoids are a relatively new class of insecticides chemically related to nicotine.
- 2. MMT is a kind of 2:1 type layered clay minerals and has been widely used in various branches of industry due to their high cation exchange capacity, swelling ability and high surface area.
- 3. Preconcentration aims to increase the concentration of the target analytes in a sample solution prior to instrumental analysis or detection. An operation (process) as the result of which microcomponents are transferred from the sample of larger mass into the sample of smaller mass, so that the concentration of the microcomponents is increased.
- 4. D-μ-SPE is a miniaturized extraction method based on dispersion of micro- or nanosorbents in sample solution containing of the target analytes. After extraction, the sorbent containing the target analytes is isolated by centrifugation or filtration. The target analytes can then be eluted or desorbed by an appropriate desorption solvent.
- 5. Detection limit or limit of detection (LOD) is the lowest quantity of a substance that can be distinguished from the absence of that substance within a stated confidence limit.
- 6. The retention time is the elapsed time between the time of injection of a solute and the time of elution of the peak maximum of that soute.
- 7. Separation efficiency is the good signal of five neonicotinoids and the peaks obtained was not overlapped.
- 8. Preconcentration efficiency is the good percentage recovery of microsolid phase extraction obtained.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Neonicotinoid insecticides

Neonicotinoid (new nicotine-like substance) is a type of pesticide that is often used recently. It is named after a similar poisonous substance called nicotine, which is found in cigarettes. Neonicotinoid was developed around 1900 after the organophosphorous pesticides. The neonicotinoids: 1) are systemic pesticides 2) are persistent in the environment 3) have neurotoxity and there are concerns over its effect towards insects including honeybees, ecosystems, and people. The insecticidal property of neonicotinoids is due to overstimulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) in the insect nervous system at the neuromuscular junction, resulting in paralysis and death [31]. Neonicotinoids can also be classified into Nnitroguanidines (imidacloprid, thiamethoxam, clothianidin and dinotefuran), nitromethylenes (nitenpyram), and N-cyano-amidines (acetamiprid and thiacloprid) [32]. Neonicotinoid is also known as systemic pesticides as it permeates into the plant because of its water solubility. A new type (phenylpyrazole) of systemic pesticides called fipronil is also being used frequently. It is used for eradicating fleas in pets, household insecticides, and pesticides. This also has neurotoxicity, and is gathering attention as one of the causes for honeybee losses. Furthermore, it is reported that neonicotinoids can be more persistent in the environment depending on the conditions, and it can stay in the soil for extended periods (over 1 year) [33].

The physicochemical properties of neonicotinoids are shown in Table 1. Molecular weights range from 160 to 292. Neonicotinoids have greater water solubility than other insecticides. Water solubility of neonicotinoids can also be altered by commercial formulations of the insecticides [34].

Neonicotinoid	Water Solubility	Log Kow	Structure		
Insecticide	(mg L ⁻¹) @ 20 °C				
N-nitro-guanidines					
Clothianidin	340	0.91	CI-S-H-H-N-NO ₂		
Imidacloprid	610	0.57	N NH		
Thiamethoxam	4100	-0.13	H ₃ C _N N ^{NO₂} N _N Cl		
N-cyano-amidine	es				
Acetamiprid	2950	0.80	N CH ₃		
Thiacloprid	184	1.26			
WY	2 1 1 EL 6	20	2163		

Table 1. Properties of the studied neonicotinoid insecticides from other chemical classes [35].

2.2 D-µ-SPE

D- μ -SPE is a miniaturized extraction method based on dispersion of micro- or nanosorbents in sample solution and isolation of solid sorbent by centrifugation, filtration or using an external magnetic field. D- μ -SPE is based on the SPE methodology, but a small amount of solid sorbent (μ g or mg range) is dispersed in a sample solution containing the target analytes without conditioning. Dispersion phenomenon enables the sorbent to interact rapidly and uniformly with all the target analytes which lead to enhance the precision of method and reduce the extraction time [23]. D- μ -SPE technique has been successfully applied to the separation and the preconcentration of pesticides in different types of solid sorbent. The following paragraphs and Table 2 summarize the reports related the d- μ -SPE technique for preconcentration of pesticides.

Jiménez-Soto *et al.* (2012) [36] reported dispersive micro solid phase extraction (DMSPE) using single-walled carbon nanohorns (SWNHs) as sorbent material for the extraction of triazines from waters followed by GC-MS. DMSPE method, a 10 mL of the standard solution (or sample solution) was mixed with 1 mL of the SWNHs, stirred at 1600 rpm for 2 min and 0.2 mL of methanol as elution solvent. The organic extraction was directly injected into GC-MS for identification and quantification of the analytes. The linearity was in the range from 0.05-200 μ g L⁻¹. The LODs were in the range between 0.015 and 0.1 μ g L⁻¹. The proposed method was applied to the identification and quantification of eleven triazines in the different water samples. The recoveries were between 63 and 100%.

Galán-Cano *et al.* (2013) [37] used of methylimidazoliumhexafluorophosphate functionalized silica is evaluated under d- μ -SPE approach for the extraction of organophosphate pesticides (OPs) from water samples follow by UPLC-DAD. D- μ -SPE conditions were: 8 mL of the sample or standard, 1.6 g of NaCl, 100 mg of SiO₂-MIM-PF₆ as sorbent, vortex for 1 min and centrifuged for 5 min at 5000 rpm. After centrifugation, the sample is removed. The sorbent was mixed with 500 μ L of acetonitrile as elution solvent and filtered through a 0.45 μ m nylon filter. The LODs were in the range between 0.3 to 0.6 μ g L⁻¹. The enrichment factors (EFs) were range from 74-100. The recoveries were between 86 and 99%. Li *et al.* (2015) [38] reported dynamic microwave assisted extraction coupled with d- μ -SPE using MIL-101 as sorbent for determination of triazine and phenylurea herbicides in soybean samples by HPLC-DAD. D- μ -SPE conditions were: 5 mg of MIL-101, ultrasonic bath for 30 s, shook for 5 min, and centrifuged for 5 min at 8390 g. The supernatant was removed and the residue was eluted by 2 mL of methanol under ultrasonication. After centrifugation, the obtained eluate was dried under nitrogen stream and the resulting residue was dissolved in 250 mL of methanol. The resulting solution was filtered with 0.22 μ m PTFE filter. At the optimal conditions, LODs was in the range of 1.56-2.00 μ g kg⁻¹. The recoveries were obtained in the range of 91.1-106.7%.

19

Chen *et al.* (2015) [39] reported a novel DMSPE clean-up method based on a PCX sorbent is established for the simultaneous determination of melamine and cyromazine residues in milk and milk powder by ultra high performance liquid chromatography-high resolution mass spectrometry (UHPLC-HRMS). Milk powder samples were first extracted with 1% formic acid in acetonitrile/water (1:1, v/v), and milk samples were cleaned up directly without any pre-extraction. Then, melamine and cyromazine in the extracts or milk were adsorbed to the PCX powder. Subsequently, the analytes in PCX sorbent were eluted with ammonium hydroxide/acetonitrile (2.5:97.5, v/v) through a simple unit device equipped with 1 mL syringe and 0.22 μ m nylon syringe filter. Under the optimum conditions, the LODs were in the range of 0.05-0.06 μ g kg⁻¹ (milk) and 0.60 μ g kg⁻¹ (milk powder). The recoveries were between 78.1 and 107.1%.

พนุน ปณุสุโต ชีเว

Author	Analyte/	D-µ-SPE conditions	Detection	LODs	
(year)	Sample				
Jiménez-	Triazines/ water	Sample volume: 10 mL	GC-MS	0.015-0.1	
Soto		Sorbent: carbon nanohorns		(µg L ⁻¹)	
et al.		(SWNHs)			
(2012)		Elution solvent: 0.2 mL of			
		methanol			
		Agitation: stirred at 1600			
		rpm f <mark>or 2</mark> min			
Galán-	organophosphate	Sample volume: 8 mL	UPLC-	0.3-0.6	
Cano	pesticides/ water	Salt <mark>addit</mark> ion: 1.6 g of NaCl	DAD	$(\mu g L^{-1})$	
et al.		Sorb <mark>ent: 1</mark> 00 mg of			
(2013)		[SiO <mark>2-MI</mark> M-PF6]			
		Elut <mark>ion sol</mark> vent: 500 μL of			
		acetonitrile			
		Agitation: vortex for 1 min			
		and centrifuged for 5 min at			
		5000 rpm			
Li et al.	Triazine and	Sample: 1 g	HPLC-	1.56-2	
(2015)	phenylurea	Sorbent: 5 mg of MIL-101	DAD	$(\mu g k g^{-1})$	
	herbicides/	Elution solvent: 2 mL of			
	soybean	methanol			
		Agitation: ultrasonic bath			
91.		for 30 s, centrifuged for 5			
	199:	min at 8390 g	369		
र्या की दिला					

Table 2. Literatures on d- μ -SPE for determination of pesticides.

Author	Analyte/	D-µ-SPE conditions	Detection	LODs
(year)	Sample			
Chen	Melamine and	Sample: 2 mL (milk), 1.0 g	UHPLC-	0.05-0.6
et al.	cyromazine	(milk powder)	HRMS	(µg kg ⁻¹)
(2015)	residues/ milk	Sorbent: 25 mg of PCX sorbent		
	and milk powder	Elution solvent: ammonium		
		hydroxide/ acetonitrile		
		(2.5:97 <mark>.5</mark> v/v)		
		Agitation: vortex for 30 s		

Table 2. Literatures on d-µ-SPE for determination of pesticides (cont.).

2.3 Sample preparation and chromatographic determination of neonicotinoids

There are a number of reports for determination of neonicotinoids in samples by various sample preparation and preconcentration techniques in combination with instruments such as LC-MS, GC and HPLC. The following paragraphs and Table 3 summarize the reports related the chromatographic analysis of neonicotinoids.

Seccia *et al.* (2005) [40] reported SPE prior to LC-MS for determination of four neonicotinoid insecticides (acetamiprid, imidacloprid, thiacloprid and thiamethoxam) in drinking water by LC-electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry (LC-ESI-MS). The separation was performed using a LichroCart 125-4 Lichrosphere 100 (5 μ m) column. The mobile phase was water and methanol, both acidified with 0.01% acetic acid under a gradient elution. The column temperature was 40 °C, the flow rate was 1.0 mL min⁻¹. Under the optimum condition, the linearity was in the range from 0 to 1 mg L⁻¹. The LODs for each of the four insecticides was 0.03 μ g L⁻¹. The recoveries were between 95 and 104%.

Radišić *et al.* (2009) [16] developed matrix solid-phase dispersion (MSPD) for the determination of acephate, monocrotophos, carbendazim, acetamiprid, dimethoate, simazine, carbofuran, atrazine, diuron, DNOC (4,6-dinitro-*o*-cresol), malathion and tebufenozide in fruit juices by LC-MS². The separation was achieved using a reversed-phase Zorbax Eclipse[®] XDB-C18 column (4.6 mm \times 75 mm and 3.5 µm particle size). Before the separation column, pre-column was installed (4.6 mm \times 12.5 mm i.d. and 5 µm particle size). The mobile phase was water, methanol and acetic acid under a gradient elution. The flow rate was 0.5 mL min⁻¹. Extracts were obtained by MSPD using diatomaceous earth as dispersant and dichloromethane as eluent. Under the optimum condition, the recoveries were in the range of 71-118%. The relative standard deviations, were in general between 5% and 15%. The LODs were in the range of 0.01-0.94 ng L⁻¹.

Dujaković et al. (2010) [41] presented SPE followed by LC-MS for the selected insecticides, fungicides and herbicides belong to seven chemical classes (organophosphates, neonicotinoids, carbamates, diacylhydrazines, benzimidazoles, triazines and phenylureas). The separation was achieved using reversed-phase Zorbax Eclipse[®] XDB-C18 column (75 mm \times 4.6 mm i.d. and 3.5 µm particle size). The mobile phase was water, methanol and acetic acid under a gradient elution. The flow rate was 0.5 mL min⁻¹. SPE condition were: HLB cartridge (200 mg/6 mL) is preconditioned with 5 mL of methanol-dichloromethane mixture (1:1) followed by 10 mL of deionized water; 250 mL of the water sample, with the pH-value adjusted to 6, is applied to preconditioned HLB cartridge at a flow rate of 1 mL min⁻¹; the cartridge is dried under vacuum for 10 min; the cartridge is eluted with 10 mL of methanoldichloromethane mixture (1:1); extract is evaporated to dryness and reconstituted with 1 mL of methanol; the final extract is filtered through 0.45µm PVDF filter into the auto sampler vial. Under the optimum condition, the recoveries were in the range of 72-129%. The LODs were in the range of 0.4-5.5 ng L^{-1} . The LOQs were in the range of 1.1-18.2 ng L⁻¹.

Xie *et al.* (2011) [13] reported multi-residue LC-MS/MS method for detection, confirmation and quantification of six neonicotinoid pesticides (dinotefuran, thiamethoxam, clothianidin, imidacloprid, acetamiprid and thiacloprid) in agricultural samples. The separation was achieved using a ZORBAX Eclipse XDB-C₈ column (150 mm × 4.6 mm i.d., 5 μ m) with a column oven temperature of 30 °C. The mobile phase was 0.1% formic acid and acetonitrile under a gradient elution. The flow rate was set at 0.4 mL min⁻¹. SPE was performed with the activated carbon and Oasis HLB SPE cartridges. In activated carbon cartridge, the cartridge was conditioned with 5 mL of acetonitrile, flow through under the action of gravity, 5 mL of acetonitrile as elution solvent and dryness on a water bath at 50 °C under a flow of nitrogen. The dried extract was reconstituted in 10 mL water, vortex mixed for 60 s. In the Oasis

HLB SPE cartridge, the cartridge was conditioned with 5 mL of methanol, 5 mL of ultra-pure water and flow through under the action of gravity. The cartridge was vacuum-dried for 3 min, methanol as elution solvent and dryness by vacuum rotary evaporation on a water bath at 50 °C. The residue was reconstituted in 2 mL of mobile phase and filtered through a 0.22 μ m PTFE syringe filter. Under the optimum condition, the linearity was range from 4 to 100 μ g mL⁻¹, the recoveries were in the range of 82.1-108.5%. The LOQs were in the range of 0.1 mg kg⁻¹ for chestnut, shallot, ginger and 0.02 mg kg⁻¹ for tea sample.

Cunha and Fernandes (2011) [42] developed QuEChERS method combined with DLLME procedure for multiclass determination of pesticides in maize, emerged by GC-MS. Chromatographic separation was performed using a DB-5MS column $(30 \text{ m} \times 0.25 \text{ mm i.d.} \times 0.25 \text{ µm film thickness})$ with helium carrier gas. The oven temperature was programmed from 80 °C to 280 °C and the total analytical time was 26 min. QuEChERS method was as follow: 2.5 g of thoroughly homogenized sample was put into a 50 mL polypropylene centrifugation tube, then 50 µL of TPP solution, 10 mL of deionized water and 10 mL of acetonitrile were added and the tube was sealed. The tube was vortexed and put it on a wrist action shaker for 30 min before adding 4 g of anhydrous MgSO₄ and 1 g of NaCl. The tube was sealed and shaken vigorously by hand for 1 min. The floating phase was further centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 4 min. Then a DLLME procedure was performed: transfer 1 mL of the acetonitrile extract to a 4 mL vial tube and add 50 μ L of isotopically labeled internal standards (ISTD) solution, add 100 µL of carbon tetrachloride, transfer rapidly the mixture to a 25 mL screw cap plastic tube with conical bottom containing 4 mL of deionized water, seal the tube and shake gently by hand for 30 s, After centrifugation for 1 min (5000 rpm), transfer 100 µL of the settled volume into a vial and inject 1 µL of the extract in to the GC-MS system. The recoveries were between 58 to 117%. The LODs were in the range between 9 and 52 μ g kg⁻¹.

Wang *et al.* (2012) [14] developed dispersive solid-phase extraction (DSPE) and DLLME for determination of seven neonicotinoid insecticide residues (nitenpyram, dinotefuran, clothianidin, thiamethoxam, acetamiprid, imidacloprid and thiacloprid) in grains by HPLC. The separation was performed using C_{18} column (Agilent TC- C_{18} , 4.6 × 250 mm i.d. × 5 µm). The temperature of the column was kept

at 25 °C. The mobile phase was acetonitrile and 0.3% (v/v) of formic acid in water system (20:80, v/v). The flow rate was set at 1.0 mL min⁻¹. The detection was performed using diode array detector (DAD) set at 260 nm. For DSPE, 10 mL centrifuge tube containing 125 mg PSA, 125 mg C₁₈ and 25 mg graphitized carbon black was used as the extraction device, vortex for 2 min and centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 5 min. DLLME was used in this clean-up procedure, a 50 mL centrifuge tube with conical bottom was used as the extraction device containing 10 mL water, 0.8 g of NaCl and 2.0 mL of CHCl₃ and CH₂Cl₂ (1:1, v/v) (as extraction solvent), vortex for 30 s and centrifugation at 4000 rpm for 5 min. The CHCl₃ and CH₂Cl₂ phase was sediment at the bottom and then evaporated, dryness by a gentle nitrogen stream with a water bath at 50 °C. Finally, the residue was reconstituted in 1 mL acetonitrile:water (20:80; v/v) and filtered with a 0.45 µm organic filter. Under the optimum condition, the linearity was in the range of 0.02 to 4.5 µg mL⁻¹. The recoveries were between 76 to 123%. The LODs were in the range between 0.002 to 0.005 mg kg⁻¹.

Zhang *et al.* (2012) [4] developed DLLME coupled with sweeping in micellar electrokinetic chromatography (MEKC) for determination of neonicotinoid insecticides (thiacloprid, acetamiprid, imidaclothiz and imidacloprid) in cucumber samples. Chromatographic separation was performed using an uncoated fused-silica capillary of 50 cm (40 cm \times 75 µm i.d.). DLLME condition was as follow: 0.8 mL of acetonitrile (as dispersive solvent) were mixed with 100.0 µL of CHCl₃ (as extraction solvent), vortex for 1 min and centrifuged for 5 min at 3500 rpm. The sedimented phase (about 90 µL) was completely transferred to another 1.0 mL conical bottom vial, evaporated to dryness under a mild nitrogen stream, and finally reconstituted with 20.0 µL 150 mmol L⁻¹ H₃BO₃ (pH 4.7). Under optimum conditions, the EFs were in the range from 4000 to 10,000. The linearity was range from 2.7 to 200 ng g⁻¹ for thiacloprid, acetamiprid and imidacloprid, and 4.0 to 200 ng g⁻¹ for imidaclothiz. The LODs were in the range from 0.8 to 1.2 ng g⁻¹.

Kapoor *et al.* (2013) [43] reported QuEChERS method for determination of imidacloprid residues in fruits, fruit juices, baby foods, vegetables, and cereals by HPLC-PDA. The separation was performed using a reversed-phase, C-18 ODS analytical column (75 \times 4.6 mm inner diameter, 3.5 µm particle size), with a precolumn of the same phase, mobile phase of acetonitrile and water (20:80, v/v) was

set at flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹ and the injection volume was 50 μ L. The detection was performed using PDA at set 270 nm. For QuEChERS, samples (10 g) of each commodity were mixed with 10 mL acetonitrile and 4 g of anhydrous MgSO₄ in a centrifuge tube, shaken for 10 min at 50 rpm and centrifuged for 10 min at 10,000 rpm. Supernatant was collected and evaporated to dryness under a slow stream of nitrogen at 40 °C. Dried extracts were reconstituted with 1 mL of acetonitrile. A further 1 mL of extract was cleaned with the mixture of 50 mg PSA, 150 mg anhydrous MgSO₄, and 10 mg activated charcoal. The extract was shaken for 10 min at 50 rpm. Under the optimum condition, the LODs were in the range between 0.004-0.01 mg kg⁻¹.

Vichapong et al. (2013) [12] developed vortex-assisted surfactant-enhancedemulsification liquid-liquid microextraction with solidification of floating organic droplet (VSLLME-SFO) for preconcentration of neonicotinoid pesticides (acetamiprid, clotianidin, nitenpyram, imidacloprid, and thiamethoxam) by HPLC. The separation was performed using an Atlantis dC18 column (4.6 mm i.d. ×150 mm, 5 μ m particle diameter) and mobile phase of 25% (v/v) acetonitrile in water flow rate was set at 1.0 mL min⁻¹. The detection was performed using PDA at 254 nm. For VSLLME-SFO, a 10.00 mL of the standard solution (or sample solution) was mixed with Na₂SO₄ (0.3%, w/v) and added of 1.0 mol L⁻¹ HCl (400 μ L), 0.050 mol L⁻¹ SDS $(50 \,\mu\text{L})$ as emulsifier, vortex for 1 min, octanol (150 μL) as extraction solvent. The extraction was performed by centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 10 min. The upper phase comprising the organic extractant (~150 to 200 µL) was directly injected into HPLC. Under optimum conditions, the linearity was in the range from 0.0005-5 mg mL⁻¹. The EFs were ranged from 20-100. The LODs were in the range from 0.1-0.5 μ g L⁻¹.

Giroud *et al.* (2013) [44] developed QuEChERS method using acetonitrilebased extraction for determination pyrethroids and neonicotinoids in beebread by UHPLC-MS/MS. The separation was achieved using a Kinetex Phenyl-Hexyl ($100 \times 2.1 \text{ mm}$, $2.6 \mu \text{m}$) column. The mobile phase was mixture of acetic acid/ ammonium acetate and MeOH under a gradient elution. The flow rate was set at 0.4 mL min⁻¹, the oven temperature was 60 °C and the injection volume was 2 µL. QuEChERS condition were: 2 g of beebread was weighed in a 50 mL polypropylene centrifuge tube, 5 mL of pure water, 5 mL of heptane and 10 mL of acetonitrile with TEA 2%, added 200 μ L of internal standards at 100 μ g L⁻¹ and the mixture was vortex for 15 s. A packet of acetate buffer was added and the tube was immediately manually shaken for 10 s to prevent the coagulation of MgSO₄ and swirled on a vortex mixer for 20 s. The mixture was then centrifuged at 5000 g for 2 min and 8 mL of the supernatant (acetonitrile phase) was transferred to a 15 mL tube and incubated for 15 h at -18 °C. Afterwards, a 6 mL volume of the extract was transferred to a 15 mL centrifuge tube containing 150 mg of PSA and 900 mg of MgSO₄ then swirled on a vortex mixer for 10 s and centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 2 min. The solvent was evaporated to dryness under a gentle stream of N₂ at 40 °C. The dry residue was dissolved in 400 μ L MeOH. Lastly, 40 μ L were added to 160 μ L of pure water. Under optimum conditions, the recoveries varied from 53% to 119%. LODs were in the range from 0.05 to 5.7 ng g⁻¹.

Costa et al. (2014) [45] compared QuEChERS (original, acetate and citrate) sample preparation methods for the analysis of pesticide residues in canned and fresh peach by GC-MS. Chromatographic separation was performed using an Rtx[®]-5MS capillary column (30 m \times 0.25 mm \times 0.25 µm) and helium carrier gas at a flow rate of 1.5 mL min⁻¹. The injection temperature was set at 280 °C and the interface temperature maintained at 300 and 280 °C. The oven temperature was programmed from 70 to 300 °C. Original QuEChERS condition were: 10 g of sample, 10 mL acetonitrile, 4 g MgSO₄ and 1 g NaCl, vortexed for 1 min, centrifuged for 5 min at 5000 rpm. The upper phase comprising acetonitrile was transferred to a 15 mL polypropylene tube and then cleaned up using dispersive solid-phase extraction (d-SPE) with 25 mg PSA and 150 mg MgSO₄. The tube was vortexed for 1 min and centrifuged for 6 min at 1000 rpm. Acetate QuEChERS condition were: 15 g of sample, 15 mL 1% CH₃COOH in acetonitrile, manually homogenised for 1 min, 6 g MgSO₄ and 1.5 g CH₃COONa, centrifuged for 1 min at 5000 rpm. The upper phase comprising acetonitrile was cleaned up with 50 mg PSA and 150 mg MgSO₄ and then mixed for 1 min and centrifuged for 5 min at 5000 rpm. Citrate QuEChERS condition were: 10 g of sample, 10 mL acetonitrile, shaken for 1 min, 1 g C₆H₅Na₃O₇·2H₂O and 0.5 g C₆H₆Na₂O₇·1.5H₂O, 1 g NaCl and 4 g MgSO₄ were added and the tube was shaken for 1 min and centrifuged for 2 min at 4000 rpm. The upper phase comprising acetonitrile was cleaned up with 25 mg PSA and 150 mg MgSO₄. After that, the

mixture was manually homogenised for 20 s and centrifuged for 2 min at 4000 rpm. Under optimum conditions, LODs were in the range from 1 to 10 μ g kg⁻¹. The recoveries varied from 68 to 124%.

López-Fernández *et al.* (2015) [46] developed SPE for preconcentration and determination of neonicotinoid insecticide residues in dietary bee pollen by HPLC-MS/MS. The separation was performed using a Gecko 2000 column heater linked to a PC running Xcallibur version 5.0. A Hypersil GOLDTM column (100 mm × 4.6-mm inner diameter; 5 µm) with a Hypersil GOLDTM drop-in guard cartridge (10 mm × 4.6-mm inner diameter, 5 µm). The mobile phase was acetonitrile and water under gradient elution from 10 to 95% acetonitrile at a flow rate of 1.0 mL min⁻¹ and total run time of 30 min. For SPE, SupelcleanTM Envi-Carb II/PSA cartridges was employed as the extraction vessel, acetonitrile with 1% acetic acid as the extraction solvent and primary-secondary amine (PSA) as dispersive solvent. Under optimum conditions, the LODs were in the range between 0.2 and 2.2 µg kg⁻¹. The recoveries were between 81% and 99%.

Vichapong et al. (2015) [47] presented the in-coupled syringe assisted octanol-water partition microextraction for preconcentration and determination of neonicotinoid insecticide residues (imidacloprid, acetamiprid, clothianidin, thiacloprid, thiamethoxam, dinotefuran, and nitenpyram) in honey by HPLC. The separation was performed using an Atlantis dC18 (4.6 x 150 mm, 50 µm) column with isocratic elution using 25% (v/v) acetonitrile in water. The injection volume was 20 µL. The detection was obtained using photodiode array detector (PDA) set at 254 nm. The total analytical time was 18 min. In-coupled syringe assisted octanolwater partition microextraction condition were: 10.00 mL of aqueous sample, 10% (w/v) Na₂SO₄, 1-octanol (100 µL) as an extraction solvent, shooting 4 times and extraction time 2 min. Under the optimum condition, the linearity were in the range of 0.1-3000 ng mL⁻¹. LODs were in the range from 0.25-0.50 ng mL⁻¹. The recoveries were between 96.93 and 107.70%.

Rodríguez-Cabo *et al.* (2016) [5] used LC-MS for the determination of five neonicotinoid insecticides (thiamethoxam, imidacloprid, acetamiprid, clothianidin and IMI-d₄) in red and white wines. Chromatographic separation was achieved on a Zorbax Eclipse SDB C₁₈ column (100 mm \times 2 mm, 3.5 µm) connected to a C₁₈ guard

cartridge (4 mm \times 2 mm). The temperature of the column was kept at 40 °C. The mobile phase was acetonitrile and water under gradient elution from 2 to 100% acetonitrile. For SPE, 200 mg OASIS HLB cartridges was used as an extraction vessel. A mixture of acetonitrile and ethanol: water (12:88) as the extraction solvent and 2 mL of acetonitrile as the dispersive solvent were used. Under optimum conditions, the linearity was obtained in the range of 1-500 ng mL⁻¹. The recoveries were between 77 and 119%.

Vichapong *et al.* (2016) [48] developed ionic liquid-based cold-induced aggregation microextraction for determination of neonicotinoid insecticide residues (clothianidin, imidacloprid, dinotefuran and thiacloprid) in honey by HPLC with photodiode array detection. The separation was performed using a LiChrospher[®] 100 RP-18 endcapped (4.6×150 mm, 5.0μ m) column. The mobile phase was 25% (ν/ν) acetonitrile in water. Ionic liquid-based cold-induced aggregation microextraction procedure were 200 µL room temperature ionic liquids [C₄MIM][PF₆] containing 0.05 mol L⁻¹ SDS, 0.75 g sodium carbonate, vortex agitation speed of 1800 rpm for 30 s and centrifugation at 3500 rpm for 10 min. Under optimum conditions, the high enrichment factor of 200 was obtained. The linearity was in the range of 0.25-500 mg L⁻¹. The recoveries were between 86 and 100%. LODs were in the range of 0.25-0.50 µg L⁻¹.

Shi *et al.* (2017) [49] used graphene (CH₃NH-G) as SPE sorbent to cleanup the acetonitrile extract of sunflower seeds for the determination of neonicotinoid insecticides by UPLC-MS/MS. Chromatographic separation was performed on an ACQUITY UPLC[®] BEH C₁₈ column (2.1×100 mm i.d., 1.7 µm) preceded by a BEH C₁₈VanGuard[™] pre-column (2.1×5 mm i.d., 1.7 µm). The mobile phase was mixture of 0.1% formic acid and acetonitrile under a gradient elution 20-90% acetonitrile. The flow rate was 0.4 mL min⁻¹. The temperature of the column was kept at 30 °C and 15 °C. The injection volume was 10 µL. For extraction, 2.0 g of sample was accurately weighed into a 50 mL plastic centrifuge tube. 5 mL of water, 20 mL of acetonitrile and 3.0 g of sodium chloride were added into the centrifuge tube, and vortex for 3 min and centrifuged for 5 min at 4000 rpm. The supernatant was used in the following cleanup. Sample cleanup was performed with SPE cartridge packed with 20 mg (dry weight) of CH₃NH-G. Before the sample cleanup procedure, the SPE cartridge was conditioned with 3 mL of methanol, 3 mL of acetonitrile, 3 mL of acetone and 9 mL of water. Then 1 mL of the above clarified supernatant sample solution was loaded onto the SPE cartridge and left to flow through the cartridge under the action of gravity. Finally, the analytes were eluted out using 1 mL of acetonitrile. Under optimum conditions, the linearity was obtained in the ranges of 0.025-100 ng g⁻¹ for thiamethoxam and imidacloprid, 0.001-20 ng g⁻¹ for acetamiprid and 0.05-100 ng g⁻¹ for thiacloprid, respectively. LODs were between 0.05 and 5.7 ng kg⁻¹. The recoveries were between 74.3-119.1%.

Arnnok *et al.* (2017) [50] reported dispersive solid phase extraction (DSPE) using polyaniline (PANI)-modified zeolite NaY as a sorbent for multi-class pesticides in food and environmental samples by HPLC-PDA. The separation was performed using a Symmetry Shield RP18 (4.6×150 mm, 5 µm) analytical column. The mobile phase was acetonitrile and water under gradient elution from 20-80% of acetonitrile. The flow rate was 1.0 mL min⁻¹. For DSPE, 150 mg of PANI-coated zeolite NaY as a sorbent and 3-mL polypropylene syringe column as the extraction vessel were used. The mixture of 0.01 mol L⁻¹ sodium hydroxide in 90% acetonitrile was used as elution solvent. Under optimum conditions, the LODs were in the range of 0.001-0.1 mg L⁻¹. The linearity was obtained in the range of 0-25 mg L⁻¹. The recoveries were between 64 and 128% with RSDs less than 12%.



Author	Analyte/	Chromatographic conditions/
(year)	Sample	Preconcentration technique
Seccia et	Acetamiprid,	LC-ESI-MS;
al. (2005)	imidacloprid,	Column: LichroCart 125-4 Lichrosphere 100
	thiacloprid, and	(<mark>5 μ</mark> m)
	thiamethoxam	Column temperature: 40 °C
	/Drinking water	Mobile phase: water and methanol/0.01%
		acetic acid
		Flow rate: 1.0 mL min ⁻¹
		SPE;
		Extraction device: LiChrolut EN cartridges
		(200 mg)
		Extraction solvent: 3 mL Ethyl acetate/
		methanol 50:50 (v/v)
		Disperser solvent: acetic acid 0.01%, of water
		(60%) and methanol (40%)
Radišić et	Acephate,	LC-MS;
al. (2009)	monocrotophos,	Column: reversed-phase Zorbax
	carbendazim,	Eclipse [®] XDB-C18 column (4.6 mm × 75 mm
	acetamiprid,	and 3.5 µm particle size) connected to pre-
	dimethoate,	column (4.6 mm \times 12.5 mm i.d. and 5 μ m
	simazine,	particle size)
911	carbofuran, atrazine,	Mobile phase: water, methanol and acetic acid
	diuron,	Flow rate: 0.5 mL min ⁻¹
	DNOC, malathion	MSPD:
	and tebufenozide/	Extraction device: 6 ml SPE tube
	Fruit juices	Sorbent: diatomaceous earth
		Extraction solvent: 10 ml of dichloromethane

Table 3. Literatures on chromatographic determination of neonicotinoid insecticides

 using various preconcentration techniques.

Author	Analyte/	Chromatographic conditions/
(year)	Sample	Preconcentration technique
Dujaković	Organophosphates,	LC-MS;
et al.	neonicotinoids,	Column: reversed-phase Zorbax
(2010)	carbamates,	E <mark>cli</mark> pse [®] XDB-C18 column
	diacylhydrazines,	(75 mm \times 4.6 mm i.d. and 3.5 μ m particle size)
	benzimidazoles,	Mobile phase: water, methanol and acetic acid
	triazines, and	Flow rate: 0.5 mL min ⁻¹
	phenylureas/	<u>SPE;</u>
	Surface	Extraction device: HLB cartridge (200 mg/6
	and ground waters	mL)
		Extraction solvent: 5 mL of methanol-
		dichloromethane mixture (1:1)
	🧉	Sample volumes: 250 mL
		pH-value: 6
		Disperser solvent: 1 mL of methanol
Xie et al.	Dinotefuran,	LC-MS/MS;
(2011)	thiamethoxam,	Column: ZORBAX Eclipse XDB-C ₈ column
	clothianidin,	(150 mm × 4.6 mm i.d., 5 μm)
	imidacloprid,	Column temperature: 30 °C
	acetamiprid and	Mobile phase: 0.1% formic acid and
	thiacloprid /	acetonitrile
911.	Gricultural samples	Flow rate: 0.4 mL min ⁻¹
	19:	<u>SPE;</u>
	รี ไก	Extraction device: HLB SPE cartridges
	01	Extraction solvent: acetonitrile
		Disperser solvent: ethyl acetate

Table 3. Literatures on chromatographic determination of neonicotinoid insecticidesusing various preconcentration techniques (cont.).

Author	Analyte/	Chromatographic conditions/
(year)	Sample	Preconcentration technique
Cunha and	Pesticides/Maize	<u>GC-MS;</u>
Fernandes		Column: DB-5MS column (30 m \times 0.25 mm
(2011)		I.D. × 0.25 μ m film thickness)
		Injector temperature: 280 °C
		Oven programme: 80-300 °C
		Carrier gas: Helium
		Run time: 26 min
		QuEChERS;
		Extraction device: 50 mL polypropylene
		centrifugation tube
		Extraction: 50 μL of TPP solution, 10 mL of
		deionized water and 10 mL of acetonitrile
		DLLME;
		Extraction: carbon tetrachloride
		Disperser solvent: QuEChERS extract
Wang <i>et al</i> .	Nitenpyram,	HPLC-DAD;
(2012)	dinotefuran,	Column: Agilent-C18 column (4.6 x 250 mm
	clothianidin,	i.d., 5.0 μm)
	thiamethoxam,	Column temperature: 25 °C
	acetamiprid,	Mobile phase: acetonitrile: 0.3% (v/v) of
941	imidacloprid and	formic acid in water system (20:80; v/v)
	thiacloprid /Grains	Flow rate: 1.0 mL min ⁻¹
	12 20	DSPE;
		Extraction device: 10 mL centrifuge tube
		Extraction: 125 mg PSA, 125 mg C_{18} and 25
		mg graphitized carbon black
1	1	

Table 3. Literatures on chromatographic determination of neonicotinoid insecticidesusing various preconcentration techniques (cont.).

Author	Analyte/	Chromatographic conditions/	
(year) Sample		Preconcentration technique	
		DLLME;	
		Extraction solvent: CHCl ₃ and CH ₂ Cl ₂ (1:1,	
		v/v)	
Zhang <i>et al</i> .	Thiacloprid,	MEKC;	
(2012)	acetamiprid,	Column: uncoated fused-silica capillary of 50	
	imidaclothiz and	c <mark>m (</mark> 40 cm ×75 μm i.d)	
	imidacloprid /	Detector: DAD	
	Cucumber samples	DLLME;	
		Extraction device: 20 ml centrifuge tube	
		Extraction solvent: CHCl ₃	
		Disperser solvent: acetonitrile	
Kapoor et	Imidacloprid / <u>HPLC-PDA;</u>		
al. (2013)	fruits, fruit juices,	Column: reversed-phased, C-18 ODS	
	baby foods,	analytical column (75 $ imes$ 4.6 mm inner	
	vegetables, and	diameter, 3.5 µm particle size), with a	
	cereals	precolumn	
		Mobile phase: acetonitrile and water (20:80,	
		v/v)	
		Flow rate: 1.0 mL min ⁻¹	
		Injection volume: 50 µL	
9/10		Detection: PDA at set 270 nm.	
	19:	QuEChERS:	
	Ja Ja	Extraction: 10 ml acetonitrile and 4 g of	
		anhydrous MgSO ₄	
		Disperser: 50 mg PSA, 150 mg anhydrous	
		MgSO ₄ , and 10 mg activated charcoal	

Table 3. Literatures on chromatographic determination of neonicotinoid insecticides

 using various preconcentration techniques (cont.).

Author	Analyte/	Chromatographic conditions/
(year)	Sample	Preconcentration technique
Vichapong	Acetamiprid,	HPLC-PDA;
<i>et al.</i> (2013)	clothianidin,	Column: Atlantis dC18 column (4.6 mm
	nitenpyram,	i.d.×150 mm, 5 μm particle diameter)
	imidacloprid, and	Mobile phase: 25% (v/v) acetonitrile in water
	thiamethoxam /	Flow rate: 1.0 mL min ⁻¹
_	Surface water	VSLLME-SFO;
_	samples and fruit	Emulsifier solvent: 0.050 mol L ⁻¹ Sodium
	juice samples	dodecyl sulfate (SDS)
		Extraction solvent: 150 µl of octanol
Giroud et	Pyrethroids and	UHPLC-MS/MS;
al. (2013)	neonicotinoids/	Column: Kinetex Phenyl-Hexyl
	Beebread	(100 × 2.1 mm, 2.6 μm)
		Mobile phase: acetic acid/ ammonium acetate
		and MeOH
		Oven temperature: 60 °C
		Flow rate: 0.4 mL min ⁻¹
		QuEChERS;
		Extraction device: 50 mL polypropylene
		centrifuge tube
		Extraction solvent: acetonitrile
9/10		Disperser solvent: MeOH
Costa <i>et al</i> .	Trichlorphon,	GC-MS;
(2014)	dimethoate,	Column: Rtx [®] -5MS capillary column (30 m
	atrazine-d5,	$\times 0.25 \text{ mm} \times 0.25 \mu\text{m})$
	fenitrothion,	Injector temperature: 280 °C
	malathion,	Oven programme: 70-300 °C
	fenthion,	Interface temperature: 280 and 300 °C

Table 3. Literatures on chromatographic determination of neonicotinoid insecticidesusing various preconcentration techniques (cont.).

Author	Analyte/	Chromatographic conditions/
(year)	Sample	Preconcentration technique
	thiamethoxam,	Carrier gas: Helium
	ciproconazole,	Flow rate: 1.5 mL min ⁻¹
	tebuconazole,	QuEChERS;
	difenoconazole,	Extraction solvent: acetonitrile, CH ₃ COOH
	and azoxystrobin/	and citrate
_	Canned and fresh	Disperser solvent: 25 mg PSA and 150 mg
	peach	MgSO ₄
López-	Neonicotinoid	HPLC-MS/MS;
Fernández	insecticide residues	Column: Symmetry Shield RP18 (4.6×150
<i>et al.</i> (2015)	/dietary bee	<mark>mm, 5</mark> μm)
		Mobile phase: acetonitrile and water under
		gradient elution from 20-80% acetonitrile
		Flow rate was 1.0 mL min ⁻¹
		<u>SPE;</u>
		Extraction device: Supelclean [™] Envi-Carb
		II/PSA cartridges
		Extraction solvent: acetonitrile with
		1% acetic acid
		Disperser solvent: PSA
Vichapong	Imidacloprid,	HPLC-PDA;
<i>et al.</i> (2015)	acetamiprid,	Column: Atlantis dC18 (4.6 x 150 mm, 5.0
	clothianidin,	μm)
	thiacloprid,	Mobile phase: 25% (v/v) acetonitrile in water
	thiamethoxam,	Detector: PDA
	dinotefuran, and	In-coupled syringe assisted octanol-water
	nitenpyram/ Honey	partition microextraction;
		Extraction solvent: 1-octanol (100 µL)

Table 3. Literatures on chromatographic determination of neonicotinoid insecticidesusing various preconcentration techniques (cont.).
Author	Analyte/	Chromatographic conditions/
(year)	Sample	Preconcentration technique
Rodríguez-	Thiamethoxam,	LC-MS/MS;
Cabo <i>et al</i> .	imidacloprid,	Column: Zorbax Eclipse SDB C ₁₈ column
(2016)	acetamiprid,	(100 mm \times 2 mm, 3.5 μ m) connected to a C ₁₈
	clothianidin and	guard cartridge (4 mm \times 2 mm)
	IMI-d ₄ / Red and	Column temperature: 40 °C
	white wines	Mobile phase: acetonitrile and water
		<u>SPE;</u>
		Extraction device: SPE cartridges
		Extraction solvent: acetonitrile and ethanol:
		water (12:88)
		Disperser solvent: 2 mL of acetonitrile
Vichapong et	Clothianidin,	HPLC-PDA;
al. (2016)	imidacloprid,	Column: LiChrospher [®] 100 RP-18 endcapped
	dinotefuran and	<mark>(4.6×150 m</mark> m, 5.0 μm)
	thiacloprid /	Mobile phase: 25% (v/v) acetonitrile in water
	Honey	Flow rate: 1 mL min ⁻¹
	F	ionic liquid-based cold-induced aggregation
		microextraction;
		Emulsifier solvent: SDS
		Extraction solvent: [C ₄ MIM][PF ₆]
Shi et al.	Neonicotinoid	UPLC-MS/MS;
(2017)	insecticides/	Column: ACQUITY UPLC® BEH C18 column
	Sunflower seeds	(2.1×100 mm i.d., 1.7 μ m) preceded by a BEH
		C ₁₈ VanGuard [™] pre-column (2.1×5 mm i.d.,
		1.7 μm)
		Column temperature: 30 and 15 °C

Table 3. Literatures on chromatographic determination of neonicotinoid insecticidesusing various preconcentration techniques (cont.).

Author	Analyte/	Chromatographic conditions/
(year)	Sample	Preconcentration technique
		Mobile phase: 0.1% formic acid and
		acetonitrile
		<u>SPE;</u>
		Extraction device: SPE cartridge
		Sorbent: graphene (CH ₃ NH-G)
		Elution solvent: 1 mL of acetonitrile
Arnnok et	Twenty pesticides/	HPLC-PDA;
al. (2017)	food and	Column: Symmetry Shield RP18 (4.6×150
	environmental	mm, 5 μm)
	samples	Mobile phase: acetonitrile and water under
		gradient elution from 20-80% acetonitrile
	📢	Flow rate was 1.0 mL min ⁻¹ .
		DSPE;
		Extraction device: 3-mL polyropylene syringe
		column
		Sorbent: PANI-coated zeolite NaY
		Elution solvent: 0.01 mol L ⁻¹ sodium
		hydroxide in 90% acetonitrile

かなれ れんちの むしつ

Table 3. Literatures on chromatographic determination of neonicotinoid insecticides

 using various preconcentration techniques (cont.).

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

3.1 Reagents and standards

All reagents were analytical grade or higher. They were obtained from various suppliers, as summarized in Table 4.

No	Chemical	Formula	Company	Country
1	Thiametoxam	C ₈ H ₁₀ ClN ₅ O ₃ S	Dr. Ehren-storfer	Germany
2	Clothianidin	C ₆ H ₈ ClN ₅ O ₂ S	Dr. Ehren-storfer	Germany
3	Imidacloprid	C9H10ClN5O2	Dr. Ehren-storfer	Germany
4	Acetamiprid	C ₁₀ H ₁₁ ClN ₄	Dr. Ehren-storfer	Germany
5	Thiacloprid	C ₁₀ H ₉ ClN ₄ S	Sigma-Aldrich	Germany
6	Acetonitrile	CH ₃ CN	Merck	Germany
7	Methanol	CH ₃ OH	Merck	Germany
8	Sodium sulphate	Na ₂ SO ₄	Ajax Finechem	New Zealand
9	Sodium chloride	NaCl	Ajax Finechem	New Zealand
10	Sodium acetate	CH ₃ COONa	CarloErba	France
11	Sodium carbonate	Na ₂ CO ₃	Ajax Finechem	New Zealand
12	Sodium nitrite	NaNO ₂	Ajax Finechem	New Zealand
13	Montmorillonite		Rheologie additive	Germany
	(cloisite 10A)			
14	Deionized water		Millipore Water	USA
		ปญ ส์	120 000	

Table 4. Chemical and reagents used in this work.

3.2 Instrumentation

The HPLC system consists of a Waters 1525 Binary HPLC pump (USA), and a Waters 2489 UV/Visible detector operated at 254 nm. Table 1 show the chromatographic condition used for separation of neonicotinoid.

Parameter	Conditions
Detector	UV/V isible detector (λ_{max} 254 nm)
Column	A LiChrospher [®] 100 RP-18 endcapped
	(4. <mark>6x</mark> 150 mm, 5.0 μm) (Merck, Germany)
Mobile phase	Isocratic elution with acetonitrile: water
	(25:75, v/v)
Flow rate	1 <mark>.0 mL</mark> min ⁻¹
Injection volume	2 <mark>0 μL</mark>

Table 5. The chromatographic conditions used for separation of neonicotinoids.

3.3 Surface water and fruit juice samples

The natural surface water samples were taken from the different areas located near rice fields in Maha Sarakham province, Northeast Thailand.

Fruit samples including longan, watermelon and grape were randomly purchased from local markets and supermarkets in Maha Sarakham province in Northeast Thailand.

3.4 Experimental

3.4.1 Preparation of standard neonicotinoid insecticides.

Stock standard solution (1000 μ g mL⁻¹) of all neonicotinoids were prepared by dissolving 0.01 g of each standard and adjusted to the mark (10.00 mL) with methanol. The stock standard solutions were stored in dark bottles, kept at 4 °C and used for not longer than six months. Working solutions were prepared by appropriated dilution of the stock solution with water.

3.4.2 Linearity, detection limits and repeatability

The mixture of neonicotinoids including thiamethoxam, imidacloprid, clothianidin, acetamiprid and thiacloprid, were prepared in methanol and working solution were diluted in water before injected into HPLC with the optimum

conditions. The relationship between the concentration and peak area were plotted. The linearity range was evaluated by the calibration curve (y=ax+b) and the R² value.

The sensitivity of the method was evaluated by limit of detection (LOD), using a signal to noise (S/N) ratio of 3:1 and limit of quantitation (LOQ) using a signal to noise (S/N) ratio of 10:1.

The repeatability was evaluated in terms of percentage relative standard deviations.

3.5 Sample preconcentration

The precentage recoveries of $d-\mu$ -SPE method was observed. The condition giving the highest percentage recoveries were selected to analysis of samples.

$3.5.1 \text{ D}-\mu$ -SPE procedure

The determination of neonicotinoid insecticides was carried out by the d-µ-SPE procedure using MMT Cloisite 10A clay sorbent followed by HPLC-UV/Visible. Figure 1 shows schematic diagram of the proposed extraction method.



Figure 1. Schematic diagram of the D-µ-SPE

The experimental parameters affected the extraction efficiency were studied.

3.5.1.1 Effect of amount of MMT sorbent

MMT has previously been demonstrated by some researcher to be effective as a sorbent for the removal of pollutants from wastewaters. MMT provides a high specific surface area due to its non-smooth, porous structure, resulting in higher loading capacity and thermal stability [26]. In this study, MMT was employed as the sorbent for $d-\mu$ -SPE procedure. It was studied in the range of 5-100 mg.

3.5.1.2 Effect of sample volume

The effect of sample volume on the extraction of neonicotinoids were studied in the range of 1-15 mL.

3.5.1.3 Effect of type and amount of the salt addition

The salt addition can decrease the solubility of the target analytes and either reduce the solubility of organic solvent in water or reinforce partitioning of the target analytes into organic phase [51]. Therefore, different kinds of salts including NaCl, NaNO₂ Na₂SO₄, CH₃COONa, and Na₂CO₃ were investigated with the amount of each salt being kept constant at 0.1 g.

The concentration of selected salt was studied in the range of 0.01-0.1 g.

3.5.1.4 Effect of type and volume of the desorption solvent

The desorption solvent (acetonitrile) was tested in the range of 20-100% (v/v). The volume of desorption solvent was varied in the range of 100-250 μ L.

3.5.1.5 Effect of vortex time

The vortex was used for agitation during the extraction step to enhance the extraction efficiency as it provided vigorous stirring of sample and the sorbent. The effect of vortex time was evaluated in the range from 30-240 s.

3.5.1.6 Effect of centrifugation time

Centrifugation time is another important step in d- μ -SPE for achieving phase separation. Therefore, the effect of centrifugation time was studied in the range of 5-20 min at 3500 rpm.

3.5.1.7 Reusability of adsorbent

The reusability of the MMT sorbent for extraction of neonicotinoid insecticides was investigated 4 cycles. In order to ensure elimination of residues on

the MMT before extraction using the proposed method, the adsorbent was washed with 5 mL of methanol.

3.5.2 Preparation of samples

Three natural surface water samples were taken from different areas located near rice fields in Maha Sarakham province (Northeastern of Thailand) province and were filtered through a Whatman No. 42 filter paper. Then, the filtrate was filtered through a 0.45 μ m nylon membrane filter.

Fruit samples (watermelon, grape, and longan) were purchased from different markets in Maha Sarakham province (Northeastern of Thailand). Before analysis, a 30.0 mL aliquot of fruit juice was centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 15 min and was filtered through Whatman No. 42 filter paper. Then, the solution was filtered through a 0.45 mm nylon membrane filter before extraction by the proposed method.

3.6 Analysis of neonicotinoids in natural surface water and fruit juice samples

Neonicotinoid in natural surface water and fruit juice samples were analyzed by using the optimum conditions.

3.7 Data analysis

1. The average result (mean) was calculated by summing the individual result and dividing by the number (n) of individual values:

$$\overline{\mathbf{X}} = \frac{\mathbf{X}_1 + \mathbf{X}_2 + \mathbf{X}_3 \dots}{\mathbf{X}_3}$$

2. The standard deviation was a measure of how precise the average is, that is, how well the individual number agree with each other. It is a measure of a type of error called random error. It is calculated as follows:

SD =
$$\sqrt{\frac{(X_1 - \overline{X})^2 + (X_2 - \overline{X})^2 + (X_3 - \overline{X})^2 + ...}{n - 1}}$$

The percentage relative standard deviations (%RSD) are calculated from the standard deviation and mean using the equation:

$$\% RSD = \frac{100 xSD}{\overline{X}}$$

3. The percentage recovery (%Recovery) was calculated by concentration of sample and spiked sample using the equation:

$$\% \text{Recovery} = \frac{(\text{C}_{\text{ex}} - \text{C}_{0})}{\text{C}_{\text{spiked}}} \times 100$$

where C_{ex} and C_0 are the analyte concentration in the extraction phase and the initial analyte concentration in the aqueous samples, respectively. C_{spiked} is the analyte concentration of spiked standard.



CHAPTER 4

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Determination of neonicotinoid insecticide residues in surface water and fruit juice samples using dispersive micro-solid phase extraction (d-μ-SPE)

This chapter present the results obtained section describes a development of the $d-\mu$ -SPE prior to analysis by HPLC. The studied neonicotinoids include thiametoxam, clothianidin, imidacloprid, acetamiprid, and thiacloprid, were studied. The second section presents the analytical performance of the proposed method. Finally, apply the proposed method for the analysis of neonicotinoid insecticide residues in surface water and fruit juice samples. The results were discussed.

4.1.1 Optimization of the d-µ-SPE procedure

In order to obtain the high extraction efficiency of the proposed d- μ -SPE method, several parameters were investigated, including amount of sorbent, sample volume, salt addition, type and volume of extraction solvent, vortex time and the centrifugation extraction time. To identify the optimal extraction conditions, the peak area of the analytes was applied to evaluate extraction efficiency under various conditions. A one-at-a time procedure was followed to understand the individual influence of each parameter. The optimization was carried out on an aqueous solution containing 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each analyte. All the experiments were performed in triplicate and the mean of the results were used for optimization.

4.1.1.1 Effect of amount of MMT sorbent

It is a primarily consideration to study an appropriate amount of sorbent on the extraction efficiency of the proposed extraction method. In the present work, the sorbent was directly added into the sample, and dispersed with the aid of vortex agitation [31]. MMT was used as a sorbent in this work, the adsorption of the pesticides in the interlayers of MMT, when occurring by substitution of water molecules hydrating the exchangeable cation, is favoured when the exchangeable cation has a small ionic potential. This is because the substitution of coordinated water molecules by pesticide molecules is facilitated and the opening of the silicate

layers is easier [52]. Different amount of MMT Cloisite 10A clay sorbent in the range of 5-100 mg were investigated, while keeping the other parameters constant. As can be seen in Figure 2, the extraction efficiency increased as the amount of MMT sorbent up to 30 mg. This may be due to the number of active sites and high surface area of MMT that increase the extraction efficiency. Efficiency then decreased for values higher than 30 mg. The reason may be that excessively strong adsorption leads to difficulty during the desorption process. With higher amounts of MMT, the extraction efficiency did not present a marked enhancement. Therefore, 30 mg of MMT sorbent was sufficient for effective extraction and was used for further experiments.



Figure 2. Effect of sorbent amount. Conditions: 100% (v/v) of acetonitrile (300 μ L) as the desorption solvent; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (10 mL, 500 ng mL-1 of each neonicotinoids).

4.1.1.2 Effect of sample volume

Sample volume is one important parameter which influences the extraction efficiency. An increase in the ratio of volume of aqueous phase to desorbing phase lead to a significant increase in the extraction efficiency. On the other hand, an increase in the sample volume may result in a decrease in extraction efficiency in a given time. The effect of sample volume on the extraction efficiency were studied in the range of 1-15 mL. The results shown in Figure 3, the highest peak areas were obtained using the sample volume of 13 mL. Therefore, 13 mL of sample volume was selected for further study.



Figure 3. Effect of the sample volume. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 100% (v/v) of acetonitrile (300 μ L) as the desorption solvent; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids).

4.1.1.3. Salt addition

Salt addition plays various roles in the microextraction processes, depending on the analyte and sorbent natures in terms of hydrophobicity and hydrophilicity and their interaction [53]. It can reduce the solubility of the target analytes and either reduce the solubility of organic solvent in water or reinforce partitioning of the target analytes into organic phase [51]. Therefore, several salts (NaNO₂, NaCl, Na₂SO₄, CH₃COONa, Na₂CO₃) were examined with the amount of each salt being kept constant at 0.1 g and the results were compared with that obtained from the process without salt addition (Figure 4 and Figure 5). It was found that Na₂SO₄ provided higher extraction efficiency in terms of peak area of neonicotinoids and better chromatogram than other salts. Therefore, Na₂SO₄ was selected for the further studied. On the other hand, with increase of salt concentration and ionic strength, salting in effect can be a dominant phenomenon [54]. Whereby, polar molecules may take part in electrostatic interactions with the salt ions in solution; thus, the mass transfer is diminished [55]. To probe the effect of salinity on extraction performance, experiments were accomplished by adding different amounts of Na₂SO₄ in the range of 0.01-0.1 g. As shown in Figure 6, the peak area increased to a maximum when



amount of Na_2SO_4 increased to 0.03 g, then decreased with further increasing of Na_2SO_4 amount. Therefore, Na_2SO_4 0.03 g was used in this study.

Figure 4. Chromatograms of salt addition obtained by (a) without salt, (b) NaNO₂, (c) Na₂CO₃, (d) NaCl, (e) Na₂SO₄, and (f) CH₃COONa: concentration of all standards was 500 ng mL⁻¹.



Figure 5. Effect of the salt addition. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 100% (v/v) of acetonitrile (300 μ L) as the desorption solvent; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (13 mL, 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids).



Figure 6. Effect of Na₂SO₄ concentration. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 100% (v/v) of acetonitrile (300 μ L) as the desorption solvent; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (13 mL, 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids).

4.1.1.4. Effect of type and volume of the desorption solvent

To select a proper desorption solvent for $d-\mu$ -SPE method, two points should be considered, one is that the solvent preferably be miscible with water and another is that it should have good chromatographic behavior. The appropriate desorption solvent tested for desorption of neonicotinoid insecticides were 20-100% (v/v) of acetonitrile (500 μ L). As can be seen in Figure 7, the highest extraction recovery for neonicotinoids was obtained with 70% (v/v) of acetonitrile as the desorption solvent. Therefore, 70% (v/v) acetonitrile was chosen as an desorption solvent for next experiments.

A series of experiments was investigated to detect the optimum volume of the desorption solvent as 70% (v/v) acetonitrile. The different volumes of desorption solvent ranging from 100 to 250 μ L were investigated. As can be seen from Figure 8, the highest extraction efficiency in term of peak areas of the target analytes was obtained with 150 μ L of desorption solvent and remained almost decreased afterward. Therefore, 150 μ L of 70% (v/v) acetonitrile was selected for further optimization of the experiments.



Figure 7. Effect of the different desorption solvent. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 0.03 g of Na₂SO₄; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (13 mL, 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids).



Figure 8. Effect of the volume of 70% (v/v) ACN. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 0.03 g of Na₂SO₄; 70% (v/v) of acetonitrile as the desorption solvent; vortex time 30 s and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (13 mL, 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids).

4.1.1.5. Effect of vortex time

The vortex was selected for agitation during the extraction step to enhance the extraction efficiency as it provided vigorous stirring of sample and the sorbent [56]. The effect of vortex time was investigated in the range of 30-240 s. As show in Figure 9, it was found that a fast accomplishment of the equilibrium was recieved within 60 s of loading time and 120 s of eluting time. Beyond this point, the extraction efficiency in term of peak area was decreased. Therefore, 60 s of loading time and 120 s of eluting time for eluting time and 120 s of eluting time and 120 s of eluting time.





Figure 9. Effect of vortex time (a) loading time and (b) eluting time. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 0.03 g of Na_2SO_4 ; 70% (v/v) of acetonitrile (150 µL) as the desorption solvent and centrifugation time at 3500 rpm, 10 min (13 mL, 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids).

4.1.1.6 Effect of centrifugation time

Other parameters that may affect extraction efficiency of the developed method are centrifugation time, optimum centrifugation time is still required because the process of mass transfer between two phases in extraction procedure should be time-dependent. The effect of centrifugation time was investigated in the range of 5-15 min for loading time and 5-20 min for eluting time while centrifugation time at 3500 rpm was kept. As show in Figure 10, the extraction performance of neonicotinoids slightly increased with time up to 10 min and 5 min for loding time and eluting time, respectively. Therefore, 10 min of loading time and 5 min of eluting time was used for $d-\mu$ -SPE process.



Figure 10. Effect of centrifugation time (a) loading time and (b) eluting time. Conditions: 30 mg of MMT sorbent; 0.03 g of Na_2SO_4 ; 70% (v/v) of acetonitrile (150 μ L) as the desorption solvent; vortextime 60 s (loading time) and 120 s (eluting time) (13 mL, 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoids).

The optimum conditions of the d- μ -SPE for analysis of neonicotinoid insecticides are summarized in Table 6.

Extraction process	Extraction condition
Sorbent amount	30 mg
Sample volume	13 mL
Salt addition	Na ₂ SO ₄ 0.03 g
Desorption solvent	150 μ L of 70% (v/v) acetonitrile
Vortex time	60 s of loading time
	120 s of eluting time
Centrifugation time	3500 rpm 10 min of loading time
	3500 rpm 5 min of eluting time

Table 6. The optimum conditions of $d-\mu$ -SPE for analysis of neonicotinoid insecticides.

4.1.1.7 Reusability of ad<mark>sorbe</mark>nt

The reusability of the MMT sorbent for extraction of neonicotinoid insecticides was studied. In order to ensure elimination of residues on the MMT before extraction using the proposed method, the adsorbent was washed with 5 mL of methanol. It was found that the extraction efficiency in terms of peak area decreased after 4 cycles (data not show). This indicates that MMT possesses excellent reusability as an efficient adsorbent.

4.1.2 Analytical performance of the developed d-µ-SPE procedure

To study the analytical performance of the proposed method, the analytical parameters included linear ranges, correlation coefficients (\mathbb{R}^2), precision, limit of detection (LOD), limit of quantitation (LOQ) and enrichment factors (EFs) were investigated under the selected condition. The experimental results are summarized in Table 7. All analytes exhibited good linearity in the ranges of 0.5-1000 ng mL⁻¹ with a correlation of determination (\mathbb{R}^2) greater than 0.99. LOD and LOQ were evaluated by the analytes concentration giving the signal to noise ratio (S/N) of 3 and 10, respectively. LODs of the studied analytes were from 0.005-0.065 ng mL⁻¹, while LOQs ranges between 0.008-0.263 ng mL⁻¹. To test the reproducibility of the proposed method, precision in terms of intra-day and inter-days were studied by replicate injection of the standard mixture of 50 ng mL⁻¹ each in a day (n = 3) and several days (n = 3×3). Good precisions were obtained with relative standard

deviations (RSDs) less than 0.46% for retention time and 7.17% for peak area. The enrichment factor (EF), defined as the concentration ratio of the analytes in the settled phase (Cset) and in the aqueous sample (Co), ranged from 8-176 folds. Chromatograms of the studied neonicotinoid insecticides obtained from direct HPLC and preconcentrated by the proposed $d-\mu$ -SPE are shown in Figure 11.



1

Table 7. Analytical performance of the proposed method.

Insecticide	Linear equation	Linearity	Coefficient of	LOD	LOQ	Intra-da	y (n=3)	Inter-da	ys	EF
		(ng mL ⁻¹)	determination	$(mg L^{-1})$	$(\operatorname{mg} \operatorname{L}^{-1})$	RSD		(n=3 day	ys x 3)	
)	(R ²))				RSD		
						t R	Peak	t _R	Peak	
							area		area	
Thiamethoxam	y = 1894030x + 256	0.5-1000	0.9951	0.009	0.031	0.46	2.75	0.21	4.58	73
	$(y = 256063x + 6414)^a$			(0.021)						
Clothianidin	y = 3990993x - 3842	0.5-1000	0.9972	0.013	0.042	0.30	2.97	0.16	5.71	176
	(y = 232549x - 655)			(0.006)						
Imidecloprid	y = 1385642x - 6607	0.5-1000	0.9940	0.006	0.010	0.30	2.58	0.16	5.10	8
	(y = 154139x + 4041)			(0.028)						
Acetamiprid	y = 945451x - 4414	0.5-1000	0.9963	0.005	0.008	0.28	3.24	0.44	4.99	8
	(y = 116891x + 16181)			(0.135)						
Thiacloprid	y = 2249620x + 43266	0.5-1000	0.9980	0.065	0.263	0.23	3.26	0.14	7.17	16
	(y = 137214 + 9689)			(0.067)						
LOD: limit of det	ection, LOQ: limit of quar	ntitation, RSI	D: relative standa	d deviation	, EF: enrich	ment facto	L.			
^a Values reported	in parentheses are obtained	l from the sta	andard neonicotin	oids withou	t preconcent	tration (dir	ect injectic	n).		



Figure 11. Chromatograms of standard neonicotinoids obtained (a) without preconcentration, and (b) with preconcentration using the proposed method (concentration of all standards was 500 ng mL⁻¹).

4.1.3 Application to real samples

The proposed d- μ -SPE method was utilized for the simultaneous determination of neonicotinoid insecticides in natural surface water and fruit juice samples from local markets and supermarket in Maha Sarakham province. The results are summarized in Table 8. It was found that no residue of the studied neonicotinoids was observed in the natural surface water and longan samples. For watermelon and

grape studied, all the studied neonicotinoid insecticides were detected in the range of 0.005-0.27 ng mL⁻¹. However, the amounts of neonicotinoid pesticides found in the fruit samples were lower than the maximum residue limits (MRLs) established by EU (acetamiprid, 0.5 mg kg⁻¹ in grape; imidacloprid, in grape; clothianidin, 0.9 mg kg⁻¹ in grape).

In order to validate the accuracy of the established method, the fruit juice samples were spiked with neonicotinoid insecticides at concentration levels of 250 and 500 ng mL⁻¹. As indicated in Table 9, the recoveries of the studied neonicotinoid insecticides in fruit and natural surface water samples were obtained in the range of 12-138% and 62-151%, respectively. The chromatograms of fruit and natural surface water samples are shown in Figure 12 to Figure 20.



Table 8. Analysis of neonicotinoid insecticides in real samples.

Sample		Amount found ±	SD, mg L ⁻¹ (n=2)			
		Thiametoxam	Clothianidin	Imidacloprid	Acetamiprid	Thiacloprid
Watermelon	Local Market	0.03 ± 0.007	$0.05{\pm}0.003$	1	1	0.007 ± 0.01
	Super Market	0.11 ± 0.08	0.01 ± 0.007	0.07 ± 0.1	0.27 ± 0.1	0.005 ± 0.01
Grape	Local Market	0.04 ± 0.01	$0.04{\pm}0.002$	ı	0.06 ± 0.03	0.01 ± 0.01
	Super Market	0.26 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.003	I	I	I
Longan	Local Market	ı	I	ı	I	I
	Super Market	I	I	I	I	I
Water sample	Water I	I	I	ı	I	I
	Water II	I	I	I	I	I
	Water III	ı	ı	I	I	I

- ; not detection



58

J-SPE.
d-þ
using
q
spike
in
SS
ğ
<u>.</u> 2
<u>.</u>
nsec
-=
id
nicotino
s of nec
coveries
re
The
<u>.</u>
G.
T
Tal

Table 9. The reco	veries	of neo	onicot	inoid	insect	ticides	in sp.	iked u	ising c	l-µ-SF	ЪĒ.									
Sample	Thi	imeto	xam		Clot	hiani	din		Imid	laclop	rid		Acet	amipı	rid		Thia	clopri	ld	
	RR ((%)	RSD	(%)	RR ((%)	RSD	(%)	RR ((%)	RSD	(%)	RR (%)	RSD	(%)	RR ((%	RSD	(%)
	250	500	250	500	250	500	250	500	250	500	250	500	250	500	250	500	250	500	250	500
Watermelon																				
Local market	78	72	7.0	1.1	65	58	5.7	0.1	49	43	2.8	1.6	LL	69	6.4	1.1	68	99	3.0	6.0
Supermarket	88	80	4.4	1.8	68	63	4.6	0.7	51	49	6.2	1.8	84	74	0.5	4.2	<i>4</i>	67	0.2	1.1
Grape																				
Local market	138	102	6.2	7.0	62	53	1.1	5.5	53	4	3.6	6.8	30	40	0.5	4.6	59	56	0.3	5.5
Supermarket	92	65	2.2	1.1	55	59	2.5	0.5	41	40	7.5	3.3	53	67	7.0	1.2	68	70	1.2	1.1
Logan																				
Local market	78	99	6.4	2.0	48	55	2.3	3.1	59	55	0.7	5.4	79	69	4.3	2.2	82	74	4.9	3.0
Supermarket	59	62	0.9	5.8	57	64	0.6	5.4	13	32	5.1	4.8	4	12	0.5	5.6	69	LL	1.1	4.3
Water samples																				
Water 1	128	110	2.8	1.5	115	66	2.7	1.0	87	76	3.4	0.2	133	113	2.5	0.3	151	123	2.8	1.4
Water II	113	93	3.8	7.4	101	80	4.4	7.0	LL	62	3.9	6.3	76	126	8.7	9.2	94	119	7.5	8.7
Water III	125	105	8.1	0.4	101	76	8.5	0.1	82	68	7.8	0.6	126	109	9.2	0.1	119	126	8.7	0.1



Figure 12. Chromatograms of (a) longan sample (local market), (b) longan sample spiked with 250 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) longan sample spiked with 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid.





Figure 13. Chromatograms of (a) grape sample (local market), (b) grape sample spiked with 250 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) grape sample spiked with 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid.





Figure 14. Chromatograms of (a) watermelon sample (local market), (b) watermelon sample spiked with 250 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) watermelon sample spiked with 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid.





Figure 15. Chromatograms of (a) logan sample (super market), (b) logan sample spiked with 250 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) logan sample spiked with 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid.





Figure 16. Chromatograms of (a) grape sample (super market), (b) grape sample spiked with 250 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) grape sample spiked with 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid.





Figure 17. Chromatograms of (a) watermelon sample (super market), (b) watermelon sample spiked with 250 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) watermelon sample spiked with 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid.





Figure 18. Chromatograms of (a) surface water sample I, (b) surface water sample I spiked with 250 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) surface water sample I spiked with 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid.





Figure 19. Chromatograms of (a) surface water sample II, (b) surface water sample II spiked with 250 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) surface water sample II spiked with 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid.





Figure 20. Chromatograms of (a) surface water sample III, (b) surface water sample III spiked with 250 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid, and (c) surface water sample III spiked with 500 ng mL⁻¹ of each neonicotinoid.

4.2 Comparison of the proposed d-µ-SPE method with other sample preparation methods

The proposed d- μ -SPE was prepared to other sample preparation method for analysis of neonicotinoid insecticide residues. As summarized in Table 9, the proposed d- μ -SPE coupled to HPLC is superior to the others in term of high analytical performance, short analysis time and environmetally friendly since it required just a low cost of sorbent. The sensitivity of the proposed method in term of LOD is almost comparable to that obtained from other microextraction method. The presented method achieves low LODs, which are below the MRLs of neonicotinoid insecticide residues in agricultural product.

Table 10. C	omparison of the proposed d- μ -SPE with α	other sample J	preparation me	thods for the deterr	nination of neon	icotinoids.	
Method	Analytes	Sample	Analytical	Linearity	LOD	Recovery	Ref.
			technique			(%)	
DSPE-	Nitenpyram, Dinotefuran, Clothianidin,	Grain	HPLC-DAD	$0.02-4.5 \ \mu g \ m L^{-1}$	0.002-0.005	76-123	[14]
DLLME	Thiamethoxam, Acetamiprid,				${ m mg~kg^{-1}}$		
	Imidacloprid, Thiacloprid						
VSLLME-	Acetamiprid, clotianidin, nitenpyram,	Water and	HPLC-DAD	$0.0005-5 \ \mu g \ mL^{-1}$	0.1 -0.5 $\mu g L^{-1}$	85-105	[12]
SFO	imidacloprid, thiamathoxam	fruit juice					
SPE	Acetamiprid, imidacloprid, thiacloprid,	Drinking	LC-ESI-MS	$0-1 \text{ mg } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	$0.01 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	95-104	[37]
	thiamethoxam	water					
DLLME	Acetamiprid, clothianidin, thiamethoxam,	Honey	LC-MS/MS	1.5-100.0 µg kg ⁻¹	0.5 -1.0 $\mu g \ kg^{-1}$	74.3-113.9	[38]
	imidacloprid, dinotefuran, thiacloprid,						
	nitenpyram						
SPE-	Thiamethoxam, clothianidin,	Honey	LC-APCI-	0.1-7500 ng g ⁻¹	0.2-1.0 ng g ⁻¹	90-104	[39]
DLLME	imidacloprid, acetamiprid, thiacloprid		IT-MS/MS				
DLLME	Thiacloprid, acetamiprid,	Cucumber	MEKC	2.7-200 ng g ⁻¹	0.8-1.2 ng g ⁻¹	79.7-98	[40]
	imidaclothiz, imidacloprid						
D-µ-SPE	Imidacloprid, acetamiprid, clothianidin,	Fruit juice	HPLC-	$0.5-1000 \text{ ng mL}^{-1}$	0.005-0.065	30-138	This
	thiacloprid, thiamethoxam	and surface	UV/Visible		ng mL ⁻¹		study
		water					

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION

In this research, a simple dispersive micro-solid phase extraction (d- μ -SPE) method was proposed for preconcentration of neonicotinoid insecticides prior to analysis by HPLC. Monmorillonite was chosen as a solid sorbent for extraction of the target analytes. For d- μ -SPE, the optimal extraction conditions were sample 13 mL, monmorillonite 0.03 g, Na₂SO₄, 0.03 g, and 150 μ L of 70% (v/v) acetonitrile as extraction solvent. The extraction was then analyzed by using HPLC with UV/Visible detection. A LiChrospher[®] 100 RP-18 endcapped (4.6x150 mm, 5.0 μ m) with isocratic elution with 25% acetonitrile in water at a flow rate of 1.0 mL min ⁻¹ was used for separation of the studied neonicotinoid insecticides. Separation of five neonicotinoids was achieved within 14 min.

Under the optimum condition, high extraction efficiency (8-176), LODs (0.005-0.065 ng mL⁻¹) lower than the regulatory limit for insecticides residues, and good repeatability with a very small amount of sorbent and organic solvent consumption were obtained. The optimum conditions were applied to analysis of five neonicotinoid insecticides in natural surface water and fruit juice samples (logan, grape, and watermelon). The results were not found neonicotinoid insecticides in the natural surface water and logan samples. For watermelon and grape studied, all the studied neonicotinoid insecticides were detected in the range of 0.005-0.27 ng mL⁻¹. The proposed method has been successfully applied to the preconcentration and determination of neonicotinoid insecticide residues in real samples.

The method represented here has acceptable relative recoveries, good repeatability, and a wide linear range. When compared to other extraction methods for neonicotinoids analysis, this method reduces the exposure to toxic solvents used in the conventional extraction procedures, is environmentally friendly since it requires just a low cost of sorbent and has a much faster extraction time with high extraction efficiency. The method showed reliability with an appropriate analytical detection range for application in natural surface water and fruit juice samples.


Bibliography

- [1] A. Di, P. Fidente, D. Attard, R. Dommarco, S. Seccia, and P. Morrica, "Application of solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatography – mass spectrometry to the determination of neonicotinoid pesticide residues in fruit and vegetables," *J. Chromatogr. A*, vol. 1108, pp. 1–6, 2006.
- [2] S. Lazic, M. Franko, M. Sakac, P. Jovanov, and J. Kos, "Development of HPLC-DAD method for determination of neonicotinoids in honey," J. Food Compos. Anal., vol. 40, pp. 106–113, 2015.
- [3] M. P. Biever, J. R. Hoberg, B. Jacobson, E. Dionne, and M. Sulaiman, "Icon rice seed treatment toxicity to crayfish (Procambarus clarkii) in experimental rice paddies," *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.*, vol. 22, pp. 167–174, 2003.
- [4] S. Zhang, X. Yang, X. Yin, C. Wang, and Z. Wang, "Dispersive liquid liquid microextraction combined with sweeping micellar electrokinetic chromatography for the determination of some neonicotinoid insecticides in cucumber samples," *Food Chem.*, vol. 133, no. 2, pp. 544–550, 2012.
- [5] J. Casado, I. Rodríguez, M. Ramil, and R. Cela, "Selective extraction and determination of neonicotinoid insecticides in wine by liquid chromatography – tandem mass spectrometry," *J. Chromatogr. A*, vol. 1460, pp. 9–15, 2016.
- [6] C. D. 2007/11/EC, "Amending certain Annexes to Council Directives 86/362/EEC, 86/363/EEC and 90/642/EEC as regards maximum residue levels of acetamiprid, thiacloprid, amazosulfuron, methoxyfenozide, S-metholachlor, milbemectin and tribenuron," 2560.
- [7] Q. Zhou, Y. Ding, and J. Xiao, "Sensitive determination of thiamethoxam, imidacloprid and acetamiprid in environmental water samples with solid-phase extraction packed with multiwalled carbon nanotubes prior to highperformance liquid chromatography," *Anal Bioanal Chem*, vol. 385, pp. 1520– 1525, 2006.

- [8] M. Ali, M. Bamorowat, M. Reza, and A. Mogaddam, "Ringer tablet-based ionic liquid phase microextraction: Application in extraction and preconcentration of neonicotinoid insecticides from fruit juice and vegetable samples," *Talanta*, vol. 160, pp. 211–216, 2016.
- [9] R. S. Valverde, A. Galanti, S. Girotti, M. D. G. Garc, and M. Mart, "Column switching liquid chromatography and post-column photochemically fluorescence detection to determine imidacloprid and 6-chloronicotinic acid in honeybees," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 1147, pp. 17–23, 2007.
- [10] M. F. Abdel-ghany, L. A. Hussein, N. F. El, A. H. El-khatib, and M. W. Linscheid, "Simultaneous determination of eight neonicotinoid insecticide residues and two primary metabolites in cucumbers and soil by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry coupled with QuEChERS," J. Chromatogr. B, vol. 1031, pp. 15–28, 2016.
- [11] M. Pastor-belda, I. Garrido, N. Campillo, P. Viñas, P. Hellín, P. Flores, and J. Fenoll, "Determination of spirocyclic tetronic / tetramic acid derivatives and neonicotinoid insecticides in fruits and vegetables by liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry after dispersive liquid liquid microextraction," *Food Chem.*, vol. 202, pp. 389–395, 2016.
- [12] J. Vichapong, R. Burakham, and S. Srijaranai, "Vortex-assisted surfactantenhanced-emulsification liquid-liquid microextraction with solidification of floating organic droplet combined with HPLC for the determination of neonicotinoid pesticides," *Talanta*, vol. 117, pp. 221–228, 2013.
- [13] W. Xie, C. Han, Y. Qian, H. Ding, X. Chen, and J. Xi, "Determination of neonicotinoid pesticides residues in agricultural samples by solid-phase extraction combined with liquid chromatography – tandem mass spectrometry," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 1218, no. 28, pp. 4426–4433, 2011.

- [14] P. Wang, X. Yang, J. Wang, J. Cui, A.J. Dong, H.T. Zhao, L.W. Zhang, Z.Y. Wang, R.B. Xu, W.J. Li, Y.C. Zhang, H. Zhang, and J. Jing, "Multi-residue method for determination of seven neonicotinoid insecticides in grains using dispersive solid-phase extraction and dispersive liquid liquid micro-extraction by high performance liquid chromatography," *Food Chem.*, vol. 134, pp. 1691–1698, 2012.
- [15] C. Jansson, T. Pihlström, B. Österdahl, and K. E. Markides, "A new multiresidue method for analysis of pesticide residues in fruit and vegetables using liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometric detection & ," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 1023, pp. 93–104, 2004.
- [16] S. Grujic, T. Vasiljevic, M. Lauševic, and M. Radišic, "Determination of selected pesticides in fruit juices by matrix solid-phase dispersion and liquid chromatography – tandem mass spectrometry," *Food Chem.*, vol. 113, pp. 712– 719, 2009.
- J. L. Dong, Wu, "Application of [17] L. Cai. Xing, and C. polyphenylmethylsiloxane coated fiber for solid-phase microextraction combined with microwave-assisted extraction for the determination of organochlorine pesticides in Chinese teas," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 1015, pp. 11-21, 2003.
- [18] P. Zohrabi, M. Shamsipur, M. Hashemi, and B. Hashemi, "Liquid-phase microextraction of organophosphorus pesticides using supramolecular solvent as a carrier for ferro fl uid," *Talanta*, vol. 160, pp. 340–346, 2016.
- [19] R. Cazorla-reyes, J. L. Fernández-moreno, R. Romero-gonzález, A. Garrido, J. Luis, and M. Vidal, "Single solid phase extraction method for the simultaneous analysis of polar and non-polar pesticides in urine samples by gas chromatography and ultra high pressure liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry," *Talanta*, vol. 85, pp. 183–196, 2011.

- [20] C. L. Arthur and J. Pawliszyn, "Solid phase microextraction with thermal desorption using fused silica optical fibers," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 62, no. 19, pp. 2145–2148, 1990.
- [21] Y. He and H. K. Lee, "Liquid-Phase Microextraction in a Single Drop of Organic Solvent by Using a Conventional Microsyringe," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 69, no. 22, pp. 4634–4640, 1997.
- [22] E. Stanisz, J. Werner, and A. Zgoła-grzes, "Liquid-phase microextraction techniques based on ionic liquids for preconcentration and determination of metals," *Trends Anal. Chem.*, vol. 61, pp. 54–66, 2014.
- [23] T. Khezeli and A. Daneshfar, "Development of dispersive micro-solid phase extraction based on micro and nano sorbents," *Trends Anal. Chem.*, vol. 89, pp. 99–118, 2017.
- [24] M. Anastassiades, S. J. Lehotay, D. Stajnbaher, and F. Schenck, "Fast and Easy Multiresidue Method Employing Acetonitrile," *J. AOAC Int.*, vol. 86, no. 2, pp. 412–431, 2003.
- [25] P. T. Zielke RC, "Modified clays for the adsorption of environmental toxicants: binding of chlorophenols to pillared, delaminated, and hydroxyinterlayered smectites," *Clay Clay Min.*, vol. 36, pp. 403–408, 1998.
- [26] G. Zhao, L. Zhou, Y. Li, X. Liu, X. Ren, and X. Liu, "Enhancement of phenol degradation using immobilized microorganisms and organic modified montmorillonite in a two-phase partitioning bioreactor," J. Hazard. Mater. J., vol. 169, pp. 402–410, 2009.
- [27] S. Salehinia, S. M. Ghoreishi, F. Maya, and V. Cerdà, "Hydrophobic magnetic montmorillonite composite material for the efficient adsorption and microextraction of bisphenol A from water samples," *J. Environ. Chem. Eng.*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 4062–4071, 2016.

- [28] F. O. Pelit, L. Pelit, T.N. Dizdaş, C. Aftafa, H Ertaş, E.E. Yalçınkaya, H. Türkmen, and F.N. Ertaş, "A novel polythiophene ionic liquid modified clay composite solid phase microextraction fiber: Preparation, characterization and application to pesticide analysis," *Anal. Chim. Acta*, vol. 859, pp. 37–45, 2015.
- [29] C. Aftafa, F. O. Pelit, E. E. Yalçinkaya, H. Turkmen, I. Kapdan, and F. Nil Ertaş, "Ionic liquid intercalated clay sorbents for micro solid phase extraction of steroid hormones from water samples with analysis by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry," *J. Chromatogr. A*, vol. 1361, pp. 43–52, 2014.
- [30] M. T. Jafari, M. Saraji, and H. Sherafatmand, "Polypyrrole/montmorillonite nanocomposite as a new solid phase microextraction fiber combined with gas chromatography-corona discharge ion mobility spectrometry for the simultaneous determination of diazinon and fenthion organophosphorus pesticides," *Anal. Chim. Acta*, vol. 814, pp. 69–78, 2014.
- [31] T. Blacquière, G. Smagghe, C. A. M. Van Gestel, and V. Mommaerts, "Neonicotinoids in bees: A review on concentrations, side-effects and risk assessment," *Ecotoxicology*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 973–992, 2012.
- [32] R. Raina-Fulton, "Chapter 2. Neonicotinoid Insecticides: Environmental Occurrence in Soil, Water and Atmospheric Particles," *Pesticides*, 2016.
- [33] "The Threat of Neonicotinoid Pesticides," Japan Fund Glob. Environ. Hitachi Environ. Found., pp. 1–11, 2010.
- [34] C. Camargo, "Ecological Risks of the Conventional Insecticide / Fungicide Seed Treatment Mixture of Thiamethoxam and Mefenoxam in Soybean on Beneficial Insects," 2016.
- [35] "Pesticide Products Database (PPDB) University of Hertfordshire; 2006–2013 and Hazardous Substances Data Bank (HSDB)," 2014. [Online]. Available: https://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/newtoxnet/hsdb.htm. [Accessed: 05-Feb-2014].

- [36] J. M. Jiménez-soto, S. Cárdenas, and M. Valcárcel, "Dispersive micro solidphase extraction of triazines from waters using oxidized single-walled carbon nanohorns as sorbent," *J. Chromatogr. A*, vol. 1245, pp. 17–23, 2012.
- [37] F. Galán-Cano, R. Lucena, S. Cárdenas, and M. Valcárcel, "Dispersive microsolid phase extraction with ionic liquid-modified silica for the determination of organophosphate pesticides in water by ultra performance liquid chromatography," *Microchem. J.*, vol. 106, pp. 311–317, 2013.
- [38] N. Li, L. Wu, L. Nian, Y. Song, L. Lei, X. Yang, K. Wang, Z. Wang, L. Zhang,
 H. Zhang, A. Yu, Z. Zhang, "Dynamic microwave assisted extraction coupled with dispersive micro-solid-phase extraction of herbicides in soybeans," *Talanta*, vol. 142, pp. 43–50, 2015.
- [39] D. Chen, Y. Zhao, H. Miao, and Y. Wu, "A novel dispersive micro solid phase extraction using PCX as the sorbent for the determination of melamine and cyromazine in milk and milk powder by UHPLC-HRMS/MS," *Talanta*, vol. 134, pp. 144–152, 2015.
- [40] S. Seccia, P. Fidente, D. Attard, and P. Morrica, "Multiresidue determination of nicotinoid insecticide residues in drinking water by liquid chromatography with electrospray ionization mass spectrometry," *Anal. Chim. Acta*, vol. 553, pp. 21–26, 2005.
- [41] S. Gruji, M. Radi^{*}, T. Vasiljevi, and M. Lau^{*}, "Determination of pesticides in surface and ground waters by liquid chromatography – electrospray – tandem mass spectrometry," *Anal. Chim. Acta*, vol. 678, pp. 63–72, 2010.
- [42] S. C. Cunha and J. O. Fernandes, "Multipesticide residue analysis in maize combining acetonitrile-based extraction with dispersive liquid – liquid microextraction followed by gas chromatography – mass spectrometry," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 1218, no. 43, pp. 7748–7757, 2011.

- [43] K. Upasana, S. M.K., S. Ashutosh Kumar, P. D.K., G. Veena, and S. L.P., "Analysis of imidacloprid residues in fruits, vegetables, cereals, fruit juices, and baby foods, and daily intake estimation in and around lucknow, india," *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 723–727, 2013.
- [44] B. Giroud, A. Vauchez, E. Vulliet, L. Wiest, and A. Buleté, "Trace level determination of pyrethroid and neonicotinoid insecticides in beebread using acetonitrile-based extraction followed by analysis with ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography – tandem mass spectrometry," *J. Chromatogr. A*, vol. 1316, pp. 53–61, 2013.
- [45] F. P. Costa, S. S. Caldas, and E. G. Primel, "Comparison of QuEChERS sample preparation methods for the analysis of pesticide residues in canned and fresh peach," *Food Chem.*, vol. 165, pp. 587–593, 2014.
- [46] O. López-Fernández, R. Rial-Otero, and J. Simal-Gándara, "High-throughput HPLC-MS/MS determination of the persistence of neonicotinoid insecticide residues of regulatory interest in dietary bee pollen," *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, vol. 407, no. 23, pp. 7101–7110, 2015.
- [47] J. Vichapong, R. Burakham, and S. Srijaranai, "In-coupled syringe assisted octanol-water partition microextraction coupled with high-performance liquid chromatography for simultaneous determination of neonicotinoid insecticide residues in honey," *Talanta*, vol. 139, pp. 21–26, 2015.
- [48] J. Vichapong, R. Burakham, Y. Santaladchaiyakit, and S. Srijaranai, "A preconcentration method for analysis of neonicotinoids in honey samples by ionic liquid-based cold-induced aggregation microextraction," *Talanta*, vol. 155, pp. 216–221, 2016.
- [49] Z. Shi, S. Zhang, Q. Huai, D. Xu, and H. Zhang, "Methylamine-modified graphene-based solid phase extraction combined with UPLC-MS/MS for the analysis of neonicotinoid insecticides in sunflower seeds," *Talanta*, vol. 162, no. October 2016, pp. 300–308, 2017.

- [50] P. Arnnok, N. Patdhanagul, and R. Burakham, "Dispersive solid-phase extraction using polyaniline-modi fi ed zeolite NaY as a new sorbent for multiresidue analysis of pesticides in food and environmental samples," *Talanta*, vol. 164, no. November 2016, pp. 651–661, 2017.
- [51] K. Seebunrueng, Y. Santaladchaiyakit, and S. Srijaranai, "Vortex-assisted low density solvent based demulsified dispersive liquid – liquid microextraction and high-performance liquid chromatography for the determination of organophosphorus pesticides in water samples," *Chemosphere*, vol. 103, pp. 51–58, 2014.
- [52] J. Cornejo, R. Celis, I. Pavlovic, and M. A. Ulibarri, "Interactions of pesticides with clays and layered double hydroxides: a review," *Clay Miner.*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 155–175, 2008.
- [53] M. Hemmati, M. Rajabi, and A. Asghari, "Ultrasound-promoted dispersive micro solid-phase extraction of trace anti-hypertensive drugs from biological matrices using a sonochemically synthesized conductive polymer nanocomposite," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol. 39, pp. 12–24, 2017.
- [54] N. Jalilian, H. Ebrahimzadeh, and A. A. Asgharinezhad, "Dispersive microsolid phase extraction of aromatic amines based on an efficient sorbent made from poly(1,8-diaminonaphtalen) and magnetic multiwalled carbon nanotubes composite," *J. Chromatogr. A*, vol. 1499, pp. 38–47, 2017.
- [55] A. Sarafraz-Yazdi, F. Mofazzeli, and Z. Es'haghi, "A new high-speed hollow fiber based liquid phase microextraction method using volatile organic solvent for determination of aromatic amines in environmental water samples prior to high-performance liquid chromatography," *Talanta*, vol. 79, no. 2, pp. 472– 478, 2009.
- [56] P. Salisaeng, P. Arnnok, N. Patdhanagul, and R. Burakham, "Vortex-Assisted Dispersive Micro-Solid Phase Extraction Using CTAB-Modified Zeolite NaY Sorbent Coupled with HPLC for the Determination of Carbamate Insecticides," *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, vol. 64, no. 10, pp. 2145–2152, 2016.

- [57] P. Jovanov, V. Guzsvány, M. Franko, S. Lazić, M. Sakač, B. Šarić, and V. Banjac, "Multi-residue method for determination of selected neonicotinoid insecticides in honey using optimized dispersive liquid-liquid microextraction combined with liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry," *Talanta*, vol. 111, pp. 125–133, 2013.
- [58] N. Campillo, P. Viñas, G. Férez-Melgarejo, and M. Hernández-Córdoba, "Liquid chromatography with diode array detection and tandem mass spectrometry for the determination of neonicotinoid insecticides in honey samples using dispersive liquid-liquid microextraction," *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, vol. 61, no. 20, pp. 4799–4805, 2013.



BIOGRAPHY

NAME	Miss Khwankaew Moyakao
DATE OF BIRTH	December 16, 1994
PLACE OF BIRTH	Nongkai, Thailand
ADDRESS	24 Moo 6, Tumbol Nonsila, Aumphur Pakkhat, Nongkhai 38190 Thailand
EDUCATION	2009 Junior High School, Pathumthep Witthayakarn
	2012 Senior High School, Pathumthep Witthayakarn
	School 2018 Bachelor of Science degree in Chemistry (B.Sc.),
Research grants & award	Mahasarakham University S Center of Excellence for Innovation in Chemistry
Research grants & award	(PERCH-CIC)
Research output	Khwankaew Moyakkao, Yanawath Santaladchaiyakit,
	Supalax Srijaranai, Jitlada Vichapong. Preconcentration of
	Assisted Dispersive Micro Solid-Phase Extraction with
	Montmorillonite as an Efficient Sorbent. Molecules 2018;
	23: 1-15.
94	
1289:	5163
249	650
	Let al pr